A Prospective Analysis of the Costs, Benefits, and Impacts of U.S. Renewable Portfolio Standards





A Prospective Analysis of the Costs, Benefits, and Impacts of U.S. Renewable Portfolio Standards

Trieu Mai¹, Ryan Wiser², Galen Barbose², Lori Bird¹, Jenny Heeter¹, David Keyser¹, Venkat Krishnan¹, Jordan Macknick¹, and Dev Millstein²

¹ National Renewable Energy Laboratory

² Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

NREL and LBNL are national laboratories of the U.S. Department of Energy. NREL is operated by the Alliance for Sustainable Energy, LLC. LBNL is operated by the University of California.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Technical Report NREL/TP-6A20-67455 LBNL-1006962 December 2016 Contract Nos. DE-AC36-08GO28308 (NREL) and DE-AC02-05CH11231 (LBNL)

NOTICE

This report was prepared as an account of work sponsored by an agency of the United States government. Neither the United States government nor any agency thereof, nor any of their employees, makes any warranty, express or implied, or assumes any legal liability or responsibility for the accuracy, completeness, or usefulness of any information, apparatus, product, or process disclosed, or represents that its use would not infringe privately owned rights. Reference herein to any specific commercial product, process, or service by trade name, trademark, manufacturer, or otherwise does not necessarily constitute or imply its endorsement, recommendation, or favoring by the United States government or any agency thereof. The views and opinions of authors expressed herein do not necessarily state or reflect those of the United States government or any agency thereof.

This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.

Available electronically at SciTech Connect http://www.osti.gov/scitech

Available for a processing fee to U.S. Department of Energy and its contractors, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Energy Office of Scientific and Technical Information P.O. Box 62 Oak Ridge, TN 37831-0062 OSTI <u>http://www.osti.gov</u> Phone: 865.576.8401 Fax: 865.576.5728 Email: <u>reports@osti.gov</u>

Available for sale to the public, in paper, from:

U.S. Department of Commerce National Technical Information Service 5301 Shawnee Road Alexandria, VA 22312 NTIS <u>http://www.ntis.gov</u> Phone: 800.553.6847 or 703.605.6000 Fax: 703.605.6900 Email: <u>orders@ntis.gov</u>

Printed on paper that contains recycled content.

CITATION

Mai, Trieu, Ryan Wiser, Galen Barbose, Lori Bird, Jenny Heeter, David Keyser, Venkat Krishnan, Jordan Macknick, and Dev Millstein. 2016. *A Prospective Analysis of the Costs, Benefits, and Impacts of U.S. Renewable Portfolio Standards*. NREL/TP-6A20-67455/LBNL-1006962. Golden, CO and Berkeley, CA: National Renewable Energy Laboratory and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy17osti/67455.pdf</u>.

PREFACE

This is one report in a series that explores the costs, benefits, and other impacts of state renewable portfolio standards (RPS), both retrospectively and prospectively. The first report, *A Survey of State-Level Cost and Benefit Estimates of Renewable Portfolio Standards*, published in 2014, comprehensively summarized historical RPS compliance costs, drawing in part on estimates developed by utilities and state regulatory agencies. The study also reviewed analyses of the broader societal benefits and impacts of several states' RPS policies, typically conducted for or by the regulatory agencies or RPS administrators in those states. However, the small number of such studies, and their widely varying methods and scopes, ultimately limited the ability to compare benefits across states or to generalize beyond the specific studies performed. That limitation set the stage for future reports.

The second report in the series, *A Retrospective Analysis of the Benefits and Impacts of U.S. Renewable Portfolio Standards*, published in January 2016, analyzed historical benefits and impacts of renewable energy (RE) used to meet all state RPS policies, in aggregate, employing a consistent and well-vetted set of methods and data sets. The analysis focuses on three specific benefits: air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, and water use. It also analyzes three other impacts: gross job additions, wholesale electricity market price suppression, and natural gas price suppression. These are an important subset, but by no means a comprehensive set, of all possible effects associated with RPS policies. That report did not include a comparison of costs and benefits of renewables used to meet RPS policies, and nor did it assess the potential costs, benefits, and impacts prospectively based on future increases in RPS targets.

The present report fills that gap by evaluating the future costs, benefits, and other impacts of renewable energy used to meet current state RPS polices. It also examines a future scenario where RPSs are expanded. The analysis examines changes in electric system costs and retail electricity prices, which include all fixed and operating costs, including capital costs for all renewable, non-renewable, and supporting (e.g., transmission and storage) electric sector infrastructure; fossil fuel, uranium, and biomass fuel costs; and plant operations and maintenance expenditures. The analysis uses the same framework as the second report to analyze three specific benefits: air pollution, greenhouse gas emissions, and water use. It also analyzes two other impacts, RE workforce and economic development, and natural gas price suppression.

The terminology applied in this series does not align precisely with the traditional concepts of costs and benefits, but rather is a function of how RPS programs have often been evaluated in practice. This analysis series, particularly the present report, evaluates renewable energy used to meet RPS policies in terms of costs, benefits, and other impacts:

- *Cost metrics* presented in this report include national electric system expenditures and national and regional retail electricity prices. Previous reports examined the cost of compliance from the perspective of the utility or other load-serving entity, compared to the costs that would have been borne in the absence of the RPS.
- *Benefits*, as analyzed in this report series, consist specifically of environmental and health benefits that accrue to society at large, rather than to individual utilities. In theory, such benefits may be negative, representing net environmental costs, if the renewable electricity used for RPS compliance leads to more harmful environmental impacts than it avoids. These benefits have been of interest to state policymakers as they adopt RPS polices.
- Other impacts, in the form of resource transfers from one market participant or segment to another, are also evaluated. These impacts may also entail net costs or benefits to society at large, but our analyses focus only on the gross impacts, not the net cost or benefit.

The present report is intended to help policymakers, RPS administrators, and other decision makers gauge the potential significance of the costs as well as a number of key benefits and impacts from state RPS programs.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the U.S. Department of Energy's (DOE's) Office of Energy Efficiency and Renewable Energy's (EERE) Office of Strategic Programs for primary funding support for this analysis. In particular, the authors are grateful to Stephen Capanna and Kara Podkaminer of the Office of Strategic Programs for their support of this project.

The authors would also like to thank the following individuals for their thoughtful review: Stephen Capanna and Kara Podkaminer, DOE EERE Office of Strategic Programs; Caitlin Murphy, DOE Office of Energy Policy and Systems Analysis; J. David Coop, Christopher Hall, and Doreen Harris, New York State Energy Research and Development Authority; Ed Holt, Ed Holt and Associates; Warren Leon, Clean Energy States Alliance; and Jeffrey Logan, David Mooney, Robin Newmark, Gian Porro, Gary Schmitz, and Daniel Steinberg, National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL). We also thank Karin Haas of NREL for editorial support, Nicholas Gilroy of NREL for GIS work, and Stacy Buchanan of NREL for design support.

ACRONYMS

AP2	Air Pollution Emission Experiments and Policy (analysis model)
Btu	British thermal unit
CO ₂	carbon dioxide
CPP	Clean Power Plan
DOE	U.S. Department of Energy
EASIUR	Estimating Air pollution Social Impacts Using Regression model
EIA	U.S. Energy Information Administration
EPA	U.S. Environmental Protection Agency
GHG	greenhouse gas
GW	gigawatt
IWG	Interagency Working Group
JEDI	Jobs and Economic Development Impacts model
kW	kilowatt
kWh	kilowatt-hour
LSE	load-serving entity
MW	megawatt
MWh	megawatt-hour
NO _x	nitrogen oxides
NREL	National Renewable Energy Laboratory
O&M	operations and maintenance
PM	particulate matter
RE	renewable energy
REC	renewable energy certificate
ReEDS	Regional Energy Deployment System
RGGI	Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative
RPS	renewable portfolio standard
SCC	social cost of carbon
SO_2	sulfur dioxide
TWh	terawatt-hour

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

As states have gained experience with renewable portfolio standards (RPS) policies, many have made significant revisions to existing programs. In 2015 and 2016, seven states raised and extended their final RPS targets, while another state enacted a new RPS policy (Barbose 2016b). Interest in expanding and strengthening state RPS programs may continue, while efforts like recent proposals in many states to repeal or freeze existing RPS policies may also persist. In either context, questions about the potential costs, benefits, and other impacts of RPS programs are usually central to the decision-making process.

This report follows on previous analyses that have focused on the historical costs, benefits, and other impacts of existing state RPS programs (Heeter et al. 2014; Wiser et al. 2016a). This report examines RPS outcomes prospectively, considering both current RPS policies as well as a potential expansion of those policies. The goal of this work is to provide a consistent and independent analytical methodology for that examination. This analysis relies on National Renewable Energy Laboratory's (NREL's) Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS) model to estimate changes to the U.S. electric power sector across a number of scenarios and sensitivity cases, focusing on the 2015–2050 timeframe. Based on those modeled results, we evaluate the costs, benefits, and other impacts of renewable energy contributing to RPS compliance using the suite of methods employed in a number of recent studies sponsored by the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE): a report examining retrospective benefits and impacts of RPS programs (Wiser et al. 2016a), the *Wind Vision* report (DOE 2015), the *On the Path to SunShot* report focusing on environmental benefits (Wiser et al. 2016b), and the *Hydropower Vision* report (DOE 2016).

The analysis is structured around three scenarios: a No RPS scenario, which assumes RPSs do not exist beyond 2014 and limited economic growth in renewable energy (RE); an Existing RPS scenario, which assumes RPS requirements continue to grow based on existing state RPS policies as of July 2016; and a High RE scenario, which assumes that nearly all states adopt an RPS with relatively aggressive targets. In this analysis, we estimate the costs, benefits, and other impacts of higher levels of renewable energy by analyzing the Existing RPS and High RE scenario results relative to those from the No RPS scenario. This approach is used to measure the costs, benefits, and impacts of the RE generation used to meet RPS policies. There are multiple drivers of new renewable energy—including other policies such as tax incentives and non-policy drivers—and we do not seek to attribute all of the estimated costs, benefits, and impacts solely to the RPS policies themselves. With that in mind and based on this approach, the key findings of the analysis are as follows and summarized in Figures ES-1 and ES-2.

Renewable Generation: In the Existing RPS scenario, renewables (including hydro) reach 26% of total U.S. electricity generation by 2030 and 40% by 2050, compared to 21% and 34% under the No RPS scenario. Under the High RE scenario, renewables reach 35% by 2030 and 49% by 2050. Because RE generation is greater in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios than in the No RPS scenario, fossil fuel-based generation is correspondingly lower.

Costs: We estimate incremental costs, relative to the No RPS scenario, in terms of both the net present value of electric system costs over 2015–2050 and the difference in retail electricity prices. Both measures of costs are evaluated over a set of sensitivity cases related to future natural gas prices and renewable technology costs. Both measures consider fuel costs, operations and maintenance (O&M) costs, and capital costs for new generation, storage, and transmission infrastructure.

• Electric System Costs: For the Existing RPS scenario, incremental system costs (2015–2050) range from ±\$31 billion (-0.7% to 0.8% of the No RPS total system costs) across the sensitivity cases. On a levelized basis, these costs equate to about ±0.75¢ per kilowatt-hour of renewable energy (kWh-RE).

In the High RE scenario, incremental system costs range from \$23 billion (0.6%) to \$194 billion (4.5%), which equates to an incremental levelized cost ranging from 0.26¢/kWh-RE to 1.5¢/kWh-RE.

• Electricity Prices: Across the various sensitivity cases and census regions, retail electricity prices in the Existing RE scenario are up to a maximum of roughly 1¢/kWh higher than electricity prices in the No RPS scenario. However, estimated incremental prices vary significantly between regions and years and depend on future RE technology costs and fossil fuel prices. For some sensitivity cases and regions, we find that electricity prices are lower in the Existing RPS scenario than in the No RPS scenario. The High RE scenario has a considerably higher upper bound to the range of possible electricity price increases, with up to a 4.2¢/kWh increase in the most expensive case. Under certain conditions, however, even the High RE case may result in electricity price reductions in some regions and years.

Benefits: The study evaluates benefits associated with reduced air pollutant emissions and avoided human health damages, reduced greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and avoided climate change damages, and reduced water use for electric power generation. These benefits are associated with all RE used to meet the RPS requirements and not with the RPS policies specifically.

- Air Quality Benefits: Cumulative (2015–2050) national emissions of sulfur dioxide (SO₂), nitrogen oxides (NO_x), and fine inhalable particles with diameters that are generally 2.5 micrometers and smaller (PM_{2.5}) decrease by 5.5%, 5.7%, and 4.5%, respectively, in the Existing RPS scenario. As a result of these reductions, we estimate the health and environmental benefits of the Existing RPS scenario to be equal to \$97 billion using a "central" estimate, equivalent to 2.4¢/kWh-RE. For the High RE scenario, we estimate cumulative emission reductions of 29% for each of the three air pollutants assessed (SO₂, NO_x, and PM_{2.5}), resulting in health and environmental benefits of \$558 billion using the central estimate, equivalent to 5.0¢/kWh-RE. In both scenarios, air quality benefits come primarily from avoided premature mortality, particularly in eastern United States.
- **Reductions in GHG Emissions**: Cumulative (2015–2050) life-cycle GHG emissions decrease by 6% in the Existing RPS scenario, which translates into \$161 billion of global benefits when applying a "central value" for the social cost of carbon. These global benefits equal 3.9¢/kWh-RE. In the High RE scenario, cumulative life-cycle GHG emissions decrease by 23%, resulting in \$599 billion of global benefits when using the central value for the social cost of carbon, equivalent to 5.4¢/kWh-RE.
- Water Use Reduction: Cumulative water consumption in the Existing RPS scenario is 4% lower and water withdrawals are 3% lower compared to the No RPS scenario. On average, we find that each megawatt-hour of renewable energy used to meet Existing RPS targets saves withdrawal of 3,400 gallons of water and consumption of 290 gallons of water.¹ In the High RE scenario, water consumption and withdrawals are both 18% lower. To put these figures in context, the 2030 annual consumption savings are equal to the water demands of 420,000 U.S. households in the Existing RPS scenario, and 1.9 million households in the High RE scenario. Many U.S. regions, including water-stressed regions, see water savings. We do not estimate the monetized water savings benefits because no standard valuation methods exist.

¹ Withdrawals are defined as the amount of water removed or diverted from a water source for use, while consumption refers to the amount of water that is evaporated, transpired, incorporated into products or crops, or otherwise removed from the immediate water environment.

Impacts: The study evaluates two other "impacts," which are best considered resource transfers rather than societal benefits.

- **RE Workforce Requirement and Economic Development**: The Existing RPS scenario requires 4.7 million full-time job-years in RE-related employment, about a 19% increase over the 2015 to 2050 study period compared to the No RPS scenario. The High RE scenario requires in 11.5 million job-years of RE-related employment, or a 47% increase from the No RPS scenario. Gross RE jobs include onsite, supply chain, and induced jobs. Gross onsite jobs, which include construction and O&M jobs, represent 28% and 29% of all gross jobs, respectively, in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios. We do not estimate economy-wide net impacts, and the increased RE jobs noted here will be offset by job contraction in other parts of the economy.
- Natural Gas Price Reductions: Achieving the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios reduces cumulative (2015–2050) electricity-sector natural gas demand by a total of 35 quads and 46 quads, respectively, relative to the No RPS baseline. These reductions represent 3.3% and 4.3% of total projected economy-wide natural gas consumption in the United States over the same period, and tend to suppress natural gas prices. As a result, natural gas consumer bill savings outside the electric sector from the Existing RPS scenario total \$78 billion on a discounted, present-value basis, which is equal to a levelized impact of 1.9¢/kWh-RE. Under the High RE scenario, total consumer savings equal \$99 billion, or 0.9¢/kWh-RE. These savings come at the expense of producers, and therefore do not represent societal net benefits but rather resource transfers.



Figure ES-1. Cost, benefits, and impacts of the Existing RPS scenario relative to the No RPS Scenario, 2015–2050

When comparing the costs and monetized benefits, we find that the benefits exceed the costs, even when considering the highest cost and lowest benefit outcomes (Figure ES-2). Under the Existing RPS scenario, the high-end costs are 0.75 /kWh-RE, while air pollution and health benefits total at least 1.2 /kWh-RE and GHG benefits total at least 0.9 /kWh-RE. Under the High RE scenario, the high end costs are 1.5 /kWh-RE while air pollution and health benefits total at least 2.7 /kWh-RE and GHG benefits total at least 1.2 /kWh-RE. The figures here are presented on a national basis and reflect levelized 2015–2050 values.



Figure ES-2. Comparison of national systems costs and monetized benefits under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios

Note: Positive values reflect benefits in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, whereas negative values reflect higher costs relative to the No RPS scenario. Water benefits, gross RE job needs and economic impacts, and natural gas impacts are not shown here.

Our analysis has several limitations. First, we recognize that there may be more cost-effective ways than RPS policies to achieve the benefits and impacts discussed. Second, while our analysis examines the RE needed to meet RPS demand growth going forward, it does not seek to *attribute* those effects solely to RPS policies. In other words, the estimates provided reflect an upper bound to the impacts *of the policies themselves* because other drivers might lower the influence of RPS policies in adding new RE. Third, our work distinguishes between the potential benefits and impacts of RPS programs. Impacts are best considered resource transfers, benefiting some stakeholders at the expense of others, though such impacts might still be relevant considerations when evaluating state RPS programs. We do not evaluate the *net* effects of these impacts and, as such, cannot assess whether or not these impacts reflect net costs or benefits at a national scale. Fourth, we consider the impacts of RE needed to meet all existing (and expanded) RPSs in aggregate and do not estimate the impacts of any individual RPS policy. Finally, our analysis considers an important subset of—but not all—potential benefits and impacts; for example, we do not quantify land use and wildlife impacts. Despite these limitations, the analysis can inform decision makers about the prospective costs, merits, and value of state RPS programs as they consider revisions to existing policies and development of new policies.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. Introduction	1
Background	1
Scope, Methods, and Contribution	2
General Limitations	
Roadmap	4
2. Methods: Electric Sector Modeling and Impact Assessment Methods	5
Overview	5
Electricity Sector Modeling and Scenario Definitions	6
Methods for Assessing Benefits and Impacts	11
3. Renewable Deployment and Avoided Fossil Generation under Existing RPSs and Expanded RE Scenarios	18
4. Costs of Existing RPSs and Expanded RE	
System Costs	
Electricity Prices	24
5. Benefits of Existing RPSs and Expanded RE	26
Air Pollutant Emissions, Human Health, and Environmental Benefits	26
GHG Emissions Reduction Benefits	32
Water Use Reduction Benefits	35
6. Impacts of Existing RPS and Expanded RE	39
Gross Renewable Energy Workforce Requirement and Associated Economic Development	39
Natural Gas Price Reduction Impacts	
7. Summary and Conclusions	45
References	48

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure ES-1. Cost, benefits, and impacts of the Existing RPS scenario relative to the No RPS Scenario, 2015–2050	. x
Figure ES-2. Comparison of national systems costs and monetized benefits under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios	l .xi
Figure 1.1. States with RPS policies as of November 2016	. 1
Figure 2.1. Modeling and data analysis to support cost, benefit, and impact estimates	. 5
Figure 3.1. U.S. renewable energy penetration under three modeled scenarios	18
Figure 3.2. Difference in capacity (top) and generation (bottom) between the Existing RPS and No RPS	
scenarios through 2050	19
Figure 3.3. Difference in capacity (top) and generation (bottom) between the High RE and No RPS	
scenarios through 2050	20
Figure 3.4. Difference in cumulative generation between the Existing RPS (left) and High RE (right)	
scenarios relative to No RPS	21
Figure 3.5. Regional incremental RE generation relative to No RPS	22
Figure 4.1. Present value incremental system cost compared to No RPS, 2015–2050	24
Figure 4.2. Range of electricity prices relative to No RPS scenario	25
Figure 4.3. Regional ranges of 2030 retail electricity prices relative to No RPS scenario	25
Figure 5.1. Emissions of (a) SO ₂ , (b) NO _x , and (c) PM _{2.5} in three modeled scenarios	27
Figure 5.2. Regional (a) SO ₂ , (b) NO _x , and (c) PM _{2.5} emissions relative to No RPS	29
Figure 5.3. Present value (2015–2050) air pollution benefits, Existing RPS relative to No RPS	29
Figure 5.4. Present value (2015–2050) air pollution benefits, High RE relative to No RPS	30
Figure 5.5. Electricity system life-cycle GHG emissions in three modeled scenarios	32
Figure 5.6. Regional avoided direct-combustion CO ₂ emissions relative to No RPS	33
Figure 5.7. Present value (2015–2050) GHG reduction benefits, Existing RPS relative to No RPS	34
Figure 5.8. Present value (2015–2050) GHG reduction benefits, High RE relative to No RPS	34
Figure 5.9. Electricity sector water (a) consumption and (b) withdrawal in three modeled scenarios	36
Figure 5.10. Regional water consumption (a) and withdrawal (b) savings relative to No RPS	38
Figure 6.1. Gross domestic RE-related jobs in three modeled scenarios	39
Figure 6.2. Total domestic RE-related job-years (2015–2050) by (a) renewable technology; (b) onsite,	
supply chain, and induced; and (c) construction and O&M	41
Figure 6.3. Regional gross onsite jobs relative to No RPS	42
Figure 6.4. Electricity sector natural gas (a) consumption and (b) delivered prices in three modeled	
scenarios	43
Figure 6.5. Present value (2015–2050) non-electric natural gas consumer savings relative to No RPS	44
Figure 6.6. Regional (non-electric) natural gas consumer savings relative to No RPS	44
Figure 7.1. Comparison of national systems costs and monetized benefits under the Existing RPS and	47
High RE scenarios	47

LIST OF TABLES

Table 5.1. Emissions reductions, monetized benefits, and mortality and morbidity benefits (2015	j—2050),
Existing RPS and High RE relative to No RPS	
Table 6.1. Gross Total (2015–2050) RE-Related Earnings, Output, and Gross Domestic Produc	t in Three
Modeled Scenarios	

1. INTRODUCTION

BACKGROUND

State renewable portfolio standards (RPS), which require that electric load-serving entities (LSEs) meet a minimum portion of their load with eligible forms of renewable electricity (RE), currently exist in 29 U.S. states and Washington, D.C. (Figure 1.1). Along with federal tax credits and other state policies, RPS programs have been one of the key policy drivers for RE growth in the United States, with more than half of all renewable capacity additions since 2000 serving RPS demand (Barbose 2016a). State RPS requirements are scheduled to continue ramping up over time, with most states reaching their maximum targets between 2020 and 2025, though eight states have targets that increase until 2030 or beyond. Under existing policies, aggregate RPS requirements will roughly double from 2015 to 2030, reaching 10% of total U.S. retail electricity sales by 2030 (Barbose 2016b).



Figure 1.1. States with RPS policies as of November 2016

As states have gained experience with RPS policies, many have made significant revisions to existing programs, including increases to their final targets. In 2015 and 2016, seven states raised and extended their final RPS targets, while another enacted a new RPS policy (Barbose 2016b).² Interest in expanding and strengthening state RPS programs may continue, while efforts like recent proposals in many states to repeal or freeze existing RPS policies may also persist. In either context, questions about the potential costs, benefits, and other impacts of RPS programs are usually central to the decision-making process.

A variety of sources—including several prior studies in the same series as this report—provide insight into the historical costs, benefits, and other impacts of RPS programs.³ LSEs in many states are required to submit compliance cost data to state regulatory agencies, which often issue annual RPS compliance cost reports. Although the definitions and methods used to calculate RPS compliance costs can vary

² California, Connecticut, Hawaii, Michigan, Oregon, Rhode Island, and Washington, D.C. raised and extended their targets; Vermont enacted a new RPS.

³ Previous studies include Wiser et al. (2016a), Barbose et al. (2015), and Heeter et al. (2014).

across states, total reported costs in 2014 were \$2.6 billion, equivalent to 1.3% of retail electricity bills in RPS states (Barbose 2016a). Compliance costs vary considerably across states, and are generally increasing over time as states' targets ramp up (Heeter et al. 2014). A number of econometric analyses have also estimated the net effect of state RPS policies on average retail electricity prices at the state or utility level, with results across the studies ranging from a 3% to 7% increase (Morey and Kirsch 2013; Tra 2016; Wang 2015). Compliance cost data and econometric analyses of the effects on retail electricity prices both reflect net costs to LSEs or electric customers, but do not reflect broader costs and benefits.

A small number of states have commissioned analyses of broader environmental or other societal benefits of their RPS programs, though these studies have widely varying methods and scopes and thus offer limited opportunities to synthesize their findings (Heeter et al. 2014). Responding to that need, Wiser et al. (2016a) developed the first-ever national assessment of the benefits and impacts of state RPS programs, focusing on the year 2013. The study estimated \$7.4 billion in benefits from reduced climate change and air pollution damages, along with additional benefits from reduced water consumption. The study also estimated that RPS policies in 2013 helped support roughly 200,000 gross jobs related to renewable energy (RE), and led to \$1.3 billion to \$4.9 billion in consumer savings from reduced electricity and natural gas prices.

Notwithstanding the insights gained from these various prior studies, two important gaps remain in terms of informing future policy development. The first is to provide a forward-looking perspective, considering currently scheduled increases in RPS targets as well as the incremental effects of possible revisions to those targets. The second is to estimate both costs and benefits in an integrated manner to allow direct comparison. The present study is intended to address both of these gaps.

SCOPE, METHODS, AND CONTRIBUTION

This study evaluates the costs, benefits, and other impacts of all RE needed to meet RPS demand growth through 2050, under both existing RPS policies as well as possible expansions. Estimated costs include all electric infrastructure and operating costs and are measured in terms of both the net present value of electric system expenditures as well as changes to average electricity prices. Net costs to the electric system are evaluated under a range of sensitivity cases related to natural gas prices and RE technology costs. Broader societal benefits and impacts evaluated within the study include: reduction in greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, reduction in air pollution emissions, reduction in water use, development of jobs, economic development, and natural gas price suppression. As discussed below, the latter three items are best considered "impacts" rather than strict societal benefits in the context of this analysis. For each benefit and impact, we quantify effects in physical units (e.g., tons of pollutants, gallons of water) and, where possible, monetize them into dollar-value terms and quantify uncertainty. In presenting results, we focus on the aggregate effects of RPS programs nationally and regionally; we do not analyze the costs and benefits of individual state RPS programs.

The analysis of costs, benefits, and impacts is structured around three scenarios: Existing RPS, High RE, and No RPS. The **Existing RPS** scenario assumes RPS requirements continue to grow based on state RPS policies as of July 2016.⁴ Additional economic growth in RE above and beyond what is needed to meet RPS requirements also takes place in the Existing RPS scenario. The **High RE** scenario represents a hypothetical scenario in which all states adopt an RPS with expanded targets. The **No RPS** scenario assumes RPSs do not exist beyond 2014. Continued economic additions of RE take place under the No

⁴ This cut-off date was a function of the timing of the analysis. As a result, the analysis does not account for the increase and extension to New York's RPS of 50% by 2030, up from 29% by 2015 (adopted in August 2016) or any other changes since July 2016.

RPS scenario, but RE additions are capped at the levels seen in the Existing RPS scenario. Further details are described in Section 2.

The study relies on a suite of models and analytical techniques, described in detail in Section 2. We use the National Renewable Energy Laboratory's (NREL's) Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS) and dSolar models to estimate differences in generation, capacity, fuel use, water use, emissions, and costs under each scenario and sensitivity case. Based on those ReEDS outputs, individual benefits and impacts are then estimated using methods developed and vetted through a number of earlier U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) reports. These include the prior report in this series focusing on retrospective benefits and impacts (Wiser et al. 2016a), as well as the *Wind Vision Report* (DOE 2015), the *On the Path to SunShot* report focusing on environmental benefits (Wiser et al. 2016b), and the *Hydropower Vision* report (DOE 2016). Moreover, the scenario construct in our analysis is consistent with these earlier studies wherein we evaluate differences in a scenario with higher levels of renewable generation and a baseline scenario where renewable generation is capped.

This report represents the first national-level, integrated assessment of the prospective costs, benefits, and impacts of state RPS policies. However, we are not alone in analyzing related topics. Individual states often collect and publish historical data on RPS compliance costs, and several states have evaluated broader benefits and impacts (Heeter et al. 2014). Various researchers have applied statistical methods to try to isolate the historical effects of RPS programs on specific policy-relevant criteria, such as GHG emissions (Eastin 2014; Yi 2015), air pollution (Eastin 2014; Werner 2014), jobs (Bowen et al. 2013; Yi 2013), and retail electricity prices (Caperton 2012; Johnson 2014; Morey and Kirsch 2013; Tra 2016; Wang 2015). In addition, a previous study in this series provided a national-level assessment of historical benefits and impacts (Wiser et al. 2016a).

Among studies that have taken a prospective look, many states estimated future RPS costs prior to initial enactment of their RPS, as summarized by Chen et al. (2007). Prospective cost-effectiveness evaluations for several states have also been conducted in concert with major revisions to state RPS programs (e.g., Rouhani et al. 2016). Prospective studies with a national scope have focused primarily on the potential effects of a national RPS or clean energy standard (EIA 2012; Goulder et al. 2016; Logan et al. 2009; Mignone et al. 2012; Paul et al. 2014). To date, however, we are aware of no prior work that has sought to prospectively evaluate the cost and benefits of all state RPS programs in aggregate.

GENERAL LIMITATIONS

Caveats and limitations associated with individual analytical elements in this study are discussed in Section 2. In addition to those, a number of general, cross-cutting considerations deserve explicit note.

• Benefits versus Impacts: In presenting the approach and results of our analysis, we distinguish between potential societal *benefits* of RPS programs (GHG, air pollution, and water use reductions) and other *impacts* of those programs (gross jobs and economic development and natural gas price reductions). In evaluating potential benefits, we consider both beneficial and detrimental effects from RPS resources—the latter including, for example, air pollutants emitted by biomass and water use by concentrating solar power facilities. The impacts that we evaluate are sometimes described as benefits, and in some cases may be benefits from the perspective of an individual state or entity. However, at a national or global scale, the impacts of RPS programs related to gross jobs and economic development and to natural gas price suppression are best considered resource *transfers*: benefits for some stakeholders at the expense of others. For these impact categories, we do not evaluate the *net* effects over the entire economy and, as such, cannot assess whether or not these impacts reflect net costs or benefits. Net impacts between stakeholders are possible, but our assessment does not determine the magnitude or direction of such net effects. Such impacts may still

be relevant to evaluating state RPS programs, especially by state policymakers. However, it is important to acknowledge any offsetting effects that may take place at the sectoral, regional, national, or even international scales.

- Scope of Costs, Benefits, and Impacts: Our analysis considers an important subset of—but not all potential costs, benefits, and other impacts. For example, we do address integration of utility-scale RE into the transmission grid within the capabilities of our electric sector models but do not assess the challenges of integrating RE into distribution grids or the full set of impacts on economic development or energy supply risks. We also do not quantify the land use impacts from the RE deployment serving state RPS policies nor the offsetting reduction in impacts from fossil fuel energy supplies. Other non-quantified environmental impacts include heavy metal releases, radiological releases, waste products, and water quality impacts associated with power and upstream fuel production, as well as wildlife, noise, aesthetics, and others.
- **Cost-Effectiveness:** RPS programs are not the only possible way to achieve the outcomes discussed in this paper. Rather, as widely recognized in the economics literature, "internalizing externalities" is generally most cost-effectively achieved by directly pricing those externalities rather than through technology- or sector-specific policies. This is partly due to possible economy-wide rebound, spillover, or leakage effects, and also because such policies more directly target the achievement of public benefits (Borenstein 2012; Edenhofer et al. 2013; IPCC 2011; IPCC 2014; Kalkuhl et al. 2013; McKibbin et al. 2014; Tuladhar et al. 2014). Research focused on RPS policies has highlighted these possible effects, finding that the desired benefits of RPS programs may not be fully achieved or achieved as cost effectively as might be desired (Bushnell et al. 2007; Carley 2011; Fischer and Newell 2008; Fell and Linn 2013; Rausch and Karplus 2014), though other research suggests that the pitfalls of such "second-best" policies may be modest (Kalkuhl et al. 2012).
- Additionality: Our analysis estimates the costs, benefits, and other impacts associated with RE used to meet RPS demand growth going forward, but it does not seek to *attribute* those effects solely to RPS policies. Because of the potential leakage and spillover effects noted above, and also because of the multiple drivers for RE additions—of which state RPS programs are but one—the estimates presented in this paper may overstate the effects (including both costs and benefits) solely attributable to state RPS programs. Previous research, for example, has come to mixed conclusions about the incremental effect of RPS programs on RE deployment (Carley 2009; Carley and Miller 2012; Menz and Vachon 2006; Sarzynski et al. 2012; Shrimali et al. 2015; Shrimali and Jenner 2013; Shrimali and Kniefel 2011; Staid and Guikema 2013; Yin and Powers 2010).
- Uncertainty: Considerable uncertainty underlies many elements of our analysis. Where possible, we quantify the range of possible outcomes. In other cases, we qualify the study results and highlight areas of uncertainty not explicitly addressed in the analysis.

ROADMAP

The remainder of this paper is structured as follows. Section 2 describes the methods used to model dispatch and capacity expansion of the U.S. electric generation fleet under each scenario and to estimate each of the benefits and impacts covered in this report. Section 3 presents modeled shifts in renewable generation and displacement of fossil fuel generation under each scenario, while Section 4 describes the modeled costs of the RPS scenarios, both in terms of total system costs and average electricity prices relative to the baseline scenario. Sections 5 and 6 then present estimates for each of the potential benefits and impacts in turn: GHG emissions, air pollution emissions, water use, development of jobs, economic development, and natural gas price suppression. We conclude in Section 7 with a summary of our findings and their implications.

2. METHODS: ELECTRIC SECTOR MODELING AND IMPACT ASSESSMENT METHODS

OVERVIEW

This analysis is built on a suite of analytical tools and methods, depicted in Figure 2.1. These tools closely follow a number of reports conducted for and by the DOE (DOE 2015; DOE 2016; Wiser et al. 2016b), including our 2016 study evaluating the historical benefits and impacts of existing RPS programs (Wiser et al. 2016a).

The ReEDS electricity capacity expansion model forms the core of the analysis and is used to estimate renewable and non-renewable capacity and generation through 2050 under each scenario and sensitivity case. The dSolar customer adoption model provides inputs to ReEDS for rooftop photovoltaic capacity additions (Sigrin et al. 2015). In addition to estimating generation and capacity by fuel type, ReEDS also directly computes total electric system costs, air pollutant (nitrogen oxides $[NO_x]$ and sulfur dioxide $[SO_2]$) emissions, life-cycle GHG emissions, water consumption and withdrawals, and changes in regional natural gas prices associated with natural gas consumption by electric power generation. Each of those outputs is then used to estimate individual benefits and impacts, in many cases requiring additional analytical tools and computations outside of ReEDS. Each of these steps is described in detail throughout the remainder of this section.





Note: Red letters in parentheses indicate in which benefit/impact analyses each data set was used.

ELECTRICITY SECTOR MODELING AND SCENARIO DEFINITIONS

The ReEDS model is the core analytic backbone of our analysis (Short et al. 2011; Eurek et al. 2016).⁵ It is a capacity expansion model used to develop future scenarios of the electricity system in the contiguous United States. Specifically, ReEDS relies on an optimization approach to determine new capacity of multiple renewable and non-renewable technologies, and the generation from new and existing power plants, from the present to 2050 while meeting electricity consumption, other grid services, and policy requirements. ReEDS is designed to address the unique characteristics of many renewable electricity technologies, particularly the variability and uncertainty of solar and wind resources and the location-dependence of RE resources. The model accomplishes this through high spatial resolution and statistical parameterizations (Short et al. 2011) to estimate renewable capacity value, curtailment, and operating forecast error reserve requirements that inform model investment and dispatch decisions. ReEDS considers transmission expansion, which is needed to compare, for example, the cost competitiveness of remote high-quality renewable resources versus lower-quality local resources. The high spatial resolution in the model is also used to reflect regional differences in policies and to self-consistently project national and state policy compliance mechanisms under different future conditions.

In this study, we use ReEDS to simulate three scenarios of the U.S. electricity system through 2050, each of which is described further in the remainder of this section:

- **No RPS:** A counterfactual scenario that assumes no further growth in RPS requirements beyond 2014 and that economic growth in RE is capped at the same level as in the Existing RPS scenario
- Existing RPS: Based on existing state RPS policies as of July 2016
- High RE: A hypothetical scenario in which all states adopt expanded RPS targets.

For each scenario, the primary ReEDS outputs are annual generation and installed capacity by technology type from 2014 to 2050. From those outputs, the various costs, benefits, and other impacts reported within this study are estimated. Costs are estimated directly within ReEDS, while benefits and other impacts are often estimated using additional analytical techniques that rely directly on ReEDS outputs, as described throughout the remainder of this section. Incremental impacts are calculated by comparing the Existing and High RE Scenarios to the No RPS scenario.

Key Input Assumptions

The core assumptions used in the electric sector modeling in this study are consistent with those from NREL's *2016 Standard Scenarios* report (Cole et al. 2016). In particular, we rely on demand growth and fossil fuel prices from the *EIA Annual Energy Outlook 2016* Reference Case (EIA 2016) and renewable and non-renewable technology cost and performance assumptions based on the NREL Annual Technology Baseline 2016 "mid" projections.⁶ In these projections, levelized costs for land-based wind energy are estimated to decline from 2014 levels by 16% by 2030 and 21% by 2050. The unsubsidized levelized costs of energy for utility photovoltaics are estimated to decline from 2014 levels by as much as 68% by 2050. Other generation technologies are also estimated to experience cost declines of varying levels as reported in the Annual Technology Baseline 2016 data. Storage and transmission costs are based

⁵ ReEDS has been widely used in previous analysis of long-term renewable futures (DOE 2015, 2016; Wiser et al. 2016a; NREL 2012) and to simulate scenarios for analyses of a broad range of state and federal energy policies and regulations (Mai et al. 2016; Cole et al. 2015; Lantz et al. 2014; Mignone et al. 2012; Bird et al. 2011; Logan et al. 2009). We use the 2016 Final Release version of ReEDS in our analysis. Additional information about ReEDS can be found on the model website: <u>http://www.nrel.gov/analysis/reeds/</u>.

⁶ <u>http://www.nrel.gov/analysis/data_tech_baseline.html</u>

on the same assumptions from the NREL 2016 Standard Scenarios report (Cole et al. 2016; Eurek et al. 2016). All three model scenarios—No RPS, Existing RPS, and High RE—rely on the same set of assumptions.⁷

Recognizing the uncertainties in future technology costs and fuel prices, we also model four additional sets of sensitivities that include high and low assumptions for natural gas prices and renewable technology costs. The natural gas price scenarios are based on the *Annual Energy Outlook 2016* High and Low Oil & Gas Resource cases (EIA 2016), and the renewable technology sensitivities are based on the Annual Technology Baseline 2016 High and Low RE cost projections. For all sensitivities, only one set of parameters was varied at a time, and all other assumptions were kept consistent with the primary scenario. The full set of three scenarios (Existing RPS, High RE, and No RPS) was modeled across the natural gas price and renewable cost scenarios, and the results were used to estimate a range in costs. The various benefit and impact categories were evaluated using only the central-case assumptions for fuel prices and RE technology costs, although the cost categories are presented as a range based on the results from the full set of natural gas and RE price sensitivities. Uncertainties in many of those benefit and impact categories were also estimated but were based on other underlying sources of uncertainties.

Existing RPS Scenario

The Existing RPS scenario is based on all existing state RPS policies, as of July 2016.⁸ We model primary RPS requirements as well as technology-specific carve-outs and account for state-specific technology eligibility requirements. RPS demand projections developed by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory are used to inform the modeled RPS requirements, resource eligibility, and technology carve-outs.⁹ The Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory RPS demand projections are converted to a percent of electricity sales in ReEDS, to ensure consistency with the ReEDS electricity consumption growth and behind-themeter distributed generation projections.

⁷ We do not model technology learning in ReEDS. In addition, although base assumptions around fuel resource supply are consistent across all scenarios, ReEDS includes supply curves to reflect the price elasticity of power sector natural gas consumption. As a result, the output gas prices differ between scenarios, and these differences are used in our assessment of impacts to natural gas consumers and producers.

⁸ The scenario includes recent revisions to state RPS policies in Oregon, Rhode Island, Vermont, and the District of Columbia. ReEDS does not have a region specifically for the District of Columbia, but includes any electricity demand, generation, or policies in the District of Columbia in the Maryland region. Importantly, the scenario does not include the New York clean energy standard passed in August 2016 or any other policies enacted since then because the model scenarios were complete by the time the policies were announced. Unless otherwise noted by the policy, we maintain the same RPS requirement (in percent terms) for all years after the terminal year of the policy. Model representation of existing RPS policies can be found in the appendix of Frew et al. (2016) and Eurek et al. (2016).

⁹ Some analyst judgment was needed to represent resource eligibility, particularly for existing and new hydropower resources and for qualifying biomass facilities. Judgments were also applied when modeling in-state requirements and incentives. In addition to primary-tier RPS requirements, we also model three technology-specific carve-outs for wind, solar, and distributed generation. For the latter two carve-outs, we assume for each state whether or not the carve-out is met by utility-scale or distributed solar based on policy requirements or, when no clear specification is available, historical practices. Finally, we reviewed existing (2015) RE capacity to assess whether it was contractually available to meet future RPS compliance. This assessment resulted in an estimate of about 40 terawatt-hours (TWh) (out of about 160 TWh excess RE generation beyond RPS requirements) of 2015 RE generation in the existing fleet available for future RPS obligations. These 40 TWh are not deducted in the No RPS scenario and therefore we do not fully capture the impacts of these potentially "banked" renewable energy certificates. They do, however, help to reduce compliance costs as they lower the need for investments in new (post-2014) RE capacity to meet growing RPS requirements. See Barbose (2016a) and <u>http://rps.lbl.gov</u> for further details on the RPS data used in the ReEDS modeling.

RPS policies are represented in ReEDS in terms of constraints requiring a minimum number of renewable energy credits (RECs) from RPS-eligible technologies to be retired in each year for load served in RPS states. We allow interstate REC trading based on legislated eligibility rules and historical practices (Holt 2016; Heeter et al. 2015).¹⁰ We also allow states to satisfy compliance obligations via alternative compliance payment mechanisms rather than by retiring RECs, where applicable.¹¹ Further details on ReEDS' representation of RPS policies are described in Frew et al. (2016) and in the latest ReEDS documentation (Eurek et al. 2016).

Also important to note is that RE generation is allowed to exceed RPS requirements, thus some additional "economic RE" is generated. Economic RE is assessed within the least-cost framework of the ReEDS model based on the assumed costs of all generation technologies, including interconnection, transmission, and other factors, as well as the relative value of the different modeled options to the system. That incremental economic RE generation, above and beyond what is needed to meet RPS demand growth, is used as a constraint on RE growth in the No RPS scenario, as described below. Finally, other major existing policies are modeled in this scenario, including federal RE tax credits and state and regional carbon policies. The one major exception is the Clean Power Plan (CPP), which is used as the point of reference for constructing the High RE scenario and is excluded from the Existing RPS scenario.

High RE Scenario

This scenario represents a hypothetical future in which all states choose to adopt relatively aggressive RPS policies and is intended to help inform efforts by states who may be considering new or expanded RPS targets. As a proxy for what this might entail, RE targets under this scenario are based on the level of RE growth that would occur if states were to meet the entirety of their CPP compliance obligations solely with RE generation.^{12,13} This is implemented in ReEDS by limiting annual natural gas-fired generation to the amounts in the Existing RPS scenario.¹⁴ To be clear, this scenario specification is not intended to suggest that such a strategy will be least-cost nor does it presuppose that the CPP will be implemented. However, given that the CPP has been a common consideration among stakeholders in recent discussions about new or revised RPS policies, it provides a useful point of reference. Also important to note is that this scenario does not represent any particular economic or technical upper limit on RE.

No RPS Scenario

This scenario serves as the counterfactual baseline from which the costs, benefits, and other impacts in the Existing RE and High RE scenarios are measured. This scenario holds RPS requirements constant after

¹⁰ Restricting REC trading based on historical practices may be overly stringent on future REC trading. The model REC trading representation and trading limits are applied to ensure that RECs are only retired once and to avoid REC trading between states that are not allowed by legislation.

¹¹ The model treats all RPS states as though alternative compliance payment mechanisms are available. However, for states that, in fact, do not allow alternative compliance payments, we assume arbitrarily high alternative compliance payment levels (\$200/megawatt-hour (MWh) for primary-tier RPS requirements and \$400/MWh values for carve-out requirements) in order to ensure that the modeled RPS requirements are met with RECs.

¹² The CPP regulations allow states various options for compliance, including state measures plans, which could include RPS policies that are "federally enforceable" and can be used to comply with the CPP.

¹³ We model this scenario as though the CPP were implemented with "mass-based" emission targets for each state, with no allowance trading between states.

¹⁴ By restricting coal-to-gas fuel switching beyond that found in the Existing RPS scenario, this implementation forces the model to reduce generation from CO₂-emitting plants. Because ReEDS does not have other endogenous mechanisms to reduce emissions (e.g., heat rate upgrades or energy efficiency), it deploys greater amounts of renewable energy to replace the reduced generation.

2014 (also reducing the amount of exogenously specified rooftop photovoltaics associated with solar and distributed generation RPS carve-outs).

Aside from removing RPS requirements, the other key feature of the No RPS scenario is that economic RE growth is allowed to take place, but is capped at the level of economic RE in the Existing RPS scenario. The rationale for this approach is to be able to assess the effects of all RE used to meet RPS demand growth and to provide a baseline for assessing system costs. To implement the cap on economic RE growth, we apply an upper limit on annual RE generation for each individual census region.¹⁵ Specifically, the limit is equal to the difference between annual RE generation and annual RPS requirements in the Existing RPS scenario.¹⁶ The cap is applied at the census division level rather than the state level to account for interstate REC transactions and electricity transmission.¹⁷

Similar to the Existing RPS scenario, the No RPS scenario also excludes the CPP but includes all other existing state and federal policies. However, the stringency of state and regional carbon policies (in particular, the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) and California's cap-and-trade program) was reduced in the No RPS scenario. New RE is one mechanism used to comply with those state and regional carbon policies; however, because we are restricting RE generation in the No RPS scenario, the stringency of the carbon emissions requirements was reduced as to not exaggerate costs in this scenario.¹⁸

Metrics to Estimate Electric System and Consumer Costs

Two cost metrics are calculated in ReEDS and reported in this study. The first is the net present value of system costs, which includes all electric system expenditures through the study horizon (2015–2050). The expenditures include all fixed and operating costs, including capital costs for all renewable, non-renewable, and supporting (e.g., transmission and storage) electric sector infrastructure; fossil fuel, uranium, and biomass fuel; and plant operations and maintenance (O&M). Future costs are discounted

¹⁵ The scenarios are constructed as follows: First, the Existing RPS scenario, which allows for RE generation in exceedance of RPS requirements, is modeled. Then, for each census region and year we evaluate the difference between RE generation in this scenario and the aggregate RPS requirement in the region. This difference is then used to construct a constraint that caps RE generation for the No RPS scenario. (We also reduce rooftop PV generation according to any regional solar or distributed generation carve-outs.) Finally, using the new caps, we simulate the No RPS scenario. As a result, differences in RE generation between the Existing RPS and No RPS scenarios reflect the RPS requirements.

¹⁶ This scenario construct implicitly associates the more-expensive RE generation to the RPS required share because the cap on RE generation in the No RPS scenario would result in lower-cost RE to be deployed first in that scenario.

¹⁷ RPS compliance can often be met by out-of-state resources and can impact the dispatch of out-of-state generators. We acknowledge that census division boundaries do not align perfectly with REC and electricity markets, but implementing the caps at the census region level captures these regional effects to some degree. This regional representation also helps to mitigate the inability of REEDS to track REC banking.

¹⁸ We apply an iterative process to estimate the revised carbon cap levels. This process required running the No RPS scenario without any deviations from the carbon caps in California and the RGGI states. We estimate the carbon intensity of incremental RE—defined as the different in RE generation in the Existing RPS and No RPS scenarios—by using the ratio of the incremental RE generation to avoided CO_2 emissions. These carbon intensities are estimated for in-state/in-region generation and imported generation. The carbon caps are then adjusted by these estimated carbon intensities and the amount of incremental generation. The REEDS documentation (Eurek et al. 2016) describes the standard representations of RGGI and the California cap-and-trade programs.

using a 3% (real) social discount rate.¹⁹ In addition, due to the long lifetimes of electric system infrastructure, we only include fractions of the capital expenditures that are incurred by 2050. The ReEDS documentation (Eurek et al. 2016; Short et al. 2011) explains this apportionment in detail.²⁰ Although the production and investment tax credits are included in the model decision-making, they are not included when estimating the net present value of system costs because these RE tax credits reflect a transfer of costs between taxpayers and the electricity system. Including the tax credits in this metric would lower the estimated values from what are otherwise presented here.

The second cost metric reported is the retail electricity price. For this study, electricity prices are based on the marginal values of key restrictions used in the model, including load balancing, operating reserves, planning reserves, and policy constraints.²¹ These prices are akin to hourly locational marginal prices used by system operators for electricity market clearing, but the prices output by ReEDS are averages over all hours of the year and include capacity prices and ancillary service prices. Thus, they implicitly cover both fixed and variable costs for all generators. Although competitive pricing is not ubiquitous in all U.S. regions, a majority of electricity sales occur in restructured markets, thus these modeled prices are a useful metric for estimating relative costs incurred by the bulk power system.²² ReEDS does not model the distribution system—including any needed upgrades or maintenance—and we do not make any assumptions or estimates for how distribution system costs might evolve across scenarios. ReEDS also does not estimate retail mark-ups. We therefore assume that differences in ReEDS-estimated electricity prices are passed through directly to retail electricity prices.

As with any model, ReEDS requires many simplifications. These simplifications can impact all model results, but can have particularly significant impacts on estimated costs. We note some of the key limitations and caveats of ReEDS with respect to estimated scenario costs below:

- System-wide optimization. The model decision-making seeks to optimize system-wide costs for the contiguous United States as a whole. Actual decision making in utility and transmission planning, procurement, and dispatch processes may not be optimized. As such, costs in all scenarios will likely be higher than those estimated by ReEDS.²³ Although this likely impacts all scenarios, it is probable that this underestimation of costs in ReEDS is more prominent for scenarios with higher RE shares due to the location-restricted and variable nature of many renewable resources. Furthermore, ReEDS does not model non-economic decisions, which might lead to higher actual costs than those reported.
- Siting and supply chain. ReEDS does not explicitly model siting and supply chain constraints. Again, because these factors might impact RE to a greater degree than other generation technologies,

¹⁹ The use of a social discount rate in our system cost metric is consistent with discount rates used by the EIA, the International Energy Agency, and the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change to estimate long-term costs and benefits. A 3% discount rate is also in line with guidance from the White House Office of Management and Budget for "cost-effectiveness" analysis that spans multiple decades. Note that this discount rate differs from the higher discount rate (5.3% real, weighted average cost of capital) used in most cases for the ReEDS investment and dispatch decision-making.

²⁰ ReEDS uses a 20-year economic lifetime for all generation technologies. As such, only a fraction of the 20-year net present value costs of new capital equipment installed after 2030 are included in the system cost metric.

²¹ Endogenously- estimated REC prices are rolled into the competitive electricity price.

²² ReEDS also includes a cost-of-service price (Eurek et al. 2016) that is more reflective of pricing in regions without restructured markets. For this study, we report competitive prices only but note that the estimated incremental cost-of-service prices are similar in magnitude.

²³ However, reported costs from ReEDS for a particular region might be either higher or lower than real costs under the same set of scenarios. For example, a region might find lower cost solutions for it than the system-wide minimum cost solution.

their lack of representation might skew the reported incremental costs of scenarios with higher amount of RE to be lower than they might otherwise be.

• **Foresight.** Only limited foresight is modeled in ReEDS.²⁴ It is not clear how real investor foresight compares with that modeled in ReEDS. And while accurate foresight may yield lower costs in all scenarios, it is not clear how better foresight might impact cost differences across scenarios.

METHODS FOR ASSESSING BENEFITS AND IMPACTS

Evaluating the Benefits and Impacts of State RPS and High RE Scenarios

In addition to analyzing the possible costs associated with the Existing RPS and High RE scenario, we evaluate a diverse set of possible benefits and impacts. We report results in physical units and—where credible methods exist—in monetary terms. We evaluate the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario to identify the full set of benefits and impacts of all additional RE demand associated with those scenarios. We report results for the full analysis timeframe of 2015–2050, in some cases also highlighting nearer-term results to 2030.

Various aspects of our methods to estimate GHG and air pollution benefits build on or complement approaches used by U.S. regulatory agencies (GAO 2014; EPA 2015c) and academic researchers (NRC 2010; Arent et al. 2014; Buonocore et al. 2016a; Buonocore et al. 2016b; Callaway et al. 2015; Chiang et al. 2016; Cullen 2013; Graff Zivin et al. 2014; Driscoll et al. 2015; Fann et al. 2012; Johnson et al. 2013; Kaffine et al. 2013; McCubbin and Sovacool 2013; Novan 2014; Rouhani et al. 2016; Siler-Evans et al. 2013; Shindell 2015). The basic approach used for estimating water use impacts has also been applied in multiple studies (Clemmer et al. 2013; Macknick et al. 2012; Macknick et al. 2015; Rogers et al. 2013). The same is true for our assessments of gross RE-workforce and economic development impacts (Bamufleh et al. 2013; Croucher 2012; Flores et al. 2014; Keyser et al. 2014; Lantz and Tegen 2008; Loomis and Carter 2011; Navigant 2013; Slattery et al. 2011; Steinberg et al. 2012; You et al. 2012), and natural gas price impacts (Fischer 2009; Wiser and Bolinger 2007).

Air Pollutant Emissions and Human Health and Environmental Benefits

Our methods to value the potential air quality benefits of the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios involve first estimating the net reductions in direct combustion-related emissions of SO_2 , NO_x , and fine inhalable particles with diameters that are generally 2.5 micrometers and smaller ($PM_{2.5}$) relative to the No RPS scenario. We then quantify the public health and environmental benefits of those changes in emissions in the form of reduced mortality and morbidity associated with exposure to particulate matter and ground-level ozone, and translate those effects into monetary terms.²⁵

Combustion-related electric-sector emissions of SO_2 and NO_x are estimated within ReEDS using emission rates developed based on recent measurements of power plant emissions (Ventyx 2013) and adjusted over time to reflect EPA's Mercury Air Toxics Standard. Combustion-related $PM_{2.5}$ emission estimates are less certain and estimated outside of ReEDS as the product of ReEDS generation outputs (megawatt-hours, by generation type and vintage) and average emission rates (grams per megawatt-hour, by generation type

²⁴ ReEDS includes imperfect foresight related to changing natural gas fuel prices. The foresight term includes a expectation of changing natural gas fuel prices based on data from the 2016 Annual Energy Outlook scenarios (EIA 2016), but since ReEDS includes an endogenous representation of power sector natural gas price and demand dynamics, future prices observed in the model ultimately differ from these projections.

²⁵ These represent a subset—but arguably the most important—of emissions impacts. Due to methodological and data limitations, we do not evaluate impacts from heavy metal releases, radiological releases, waste products, and land use impacts associated with power and upstream fuel production as well as noise, aesthetics, and others. Note also that we only consider SO₂, NO_x, and PM_{2.5} emissions from power plant operation, and so do not assess upstream and downstream life-cycle impacts.

and state).²⁶ Biomass emissions are also estimated outside of ReEDS and are more uncertain than emissions from fossil fuel units. Specifically, biomass emissions rates of SO₂ and PM_{2.5} are based on the national average values developed in Wiser et al. (2016b). The NO_x emission rates are newly updated with EIA data (EIA 2015).²⁷ Overall, our methodology presumes that the Mercury Air Toxics Standard is maintained or replaced with a similar regulation so that SO₂ and NO_x cap-and-trade programs, such as the Cross-State Air Pollution Rule (which is also modeled in ReEDS), are essentially non-binding over time.²⁸ If emissions regulations become more stringent than assumed in our analysis or if binding capand-trade programs are created, then the resulting impacts of the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios would differ from those shown here.

The marginal impacts of air pollutant emissions on health outcomes (including morbidity and mortality outcomes and total monetary value) are an area of active research, and we reflect some of this uncertainty by calculating benefits using three distinct methods. All three approaches include representation of pollutant transport and chemical transformation to assess population exposure and response. Each does so differently, however, and considers different health and environmental outcomes. We use: (a) the Air Pollution Emission Experiments and Policy analysis model (AP2, formerly APEEP; described in Muller et al. 2011)²⁹; (b) EPA's marginal benefit methodology (EPA 2015a; EPA 2015c)³⁰; and (c) The Estimating Air pollution Social Impacts Using Regression (EASIUR) model (Heo et al. 2016).³¹

To incorporate differences across epidemiological studies, EPA and EASIUR both include two estimates of health impacts, a low estimate and a high estimate. Moreover, the EPA methods allow us to estimate specific health outcomes (mortality and specific forms of morbidity); all methods allow for monetary quantification. We report a "central" value estimate as the simple average of all other estimates.³²

²⁶ Average PM_{2.5} emissions rates (Cai et al. 2012; Cai et al. 2013) are differentiated by generation type (coal, gas, or oil) and U.S. state, and are adjusted over time to comply with scheduled PM_{2.5} limits in the Mercury Air Toxics Standard for existing plants.

²⁷ Although EIA data for biomass were incomplete for $PM_{2.5}$ and SO_2 , we were able to derive and use state-level estimates of NO_x emission rates. These state-level estimates produced an average national NO_x emission rate for biomass that was within 20% of the NO_x emission rate in Wiser et al (2016b).

²⁸ Otherwise, emissions impacts should arguably be valued at allowance prices to reflect savings in the cost of complying with the cap (Siler-Evans et al. 2013). Note that we do not include some more-localized existing binding cap-and-trade programs. The geographic extent of these programs is limited, so they will not substantially bias our results.

²⁹ AP2 contains monetized benefit-per-ton estimates based on emissions in the year 2008, so damages from AP2 are scaled over time based on Census population projections (U.S. Census Bureau 2012) and per capita income growth projections used by EIA (2014), using an elasticity of the value of statistical life to income growth consistent with National Research Council (2010).

³⁰ EPA's benefit-per-ton values are developed for each year within each of three large regions by linearly extrapolating EPA's provided benefit-per-ton values. The 2015–2025 benefit-per-ton values are based on the linear trend established by EPA's 2020 and 2025 values. The 2026–2050 benefit-per-ton values are based on the linear trend established by EPA's 2025 and 2030 values. The same process is used for EPA's health incidence-per-ton (mortality and morbidity outcomes) estimates.

³¹ EASIUR contains monetized benefit-per-ton estimates based on population and income in the year 2005, so damages from EASIUR are scaled over time based on Census population projections (U.S. Census Bureau 2012) and per capita income growth projections used by EIA (2014), using an elasticity of the Value of Statistical Life (VSL) to income growth consistent with National Research Council (2010).

³² A critical value within each approach is the monetary value of preventing a premature mortality (or the VSL). Each approach is based on a VSL of approximately \$6 million (in 2000\$), which is consistent with the broader literature.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions Reduction Benefits

We estimate the potential life-cycle GHG benefits of the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, relative to the No RPS scenario, by quantifying the economic value of those GHG reductions in mitigating the severity of climate-related damages and in meeting potential future carbon-reduction compliance obligations.

ReEDS calculates operational combustion-related CO₂ emissions that result from electric sector dispatch.³³ Additionally, based on the comprehensive literature assessment conducted under the auspices of NREL's Life Cycle Assessment Harmonization project,³⁴ embedded within and calculated by ReEDS are assumptions that enable an evaluation of the full life-cycle GHG impacts associated with: (1) ongoing fuel-cycle emissions from the production and transport of fuels and from other aspects of power plant operations, (2) construction-related emissions, and (3) emissions from end-of-life decommissioning.³⁵ By applying these life-cycle adjustments, we capture avoided fuel cycle, construction, and decommissioning emissions from the renewable generation and capacity.

We estimate the monetary benefits of reduced climate-change damages from GHG reductions using social cost of carbon (SCC) estimates. The SCC provides an estimate of climate change-induced monetary damages to agricultural productivity, human health, property, ecosystem services, and other systems, presented below in units of \$/(metric ton CO₂). There is a wide range of SCC estimates in the scientific literature, illustrating the deep uncertainties involved. SCC estimates are particularly sensitive to the choice of discount rates, estimates of future climate change damage and the potential for catastrophic climate tipping points, as well as the representation of abatement policies (Nordhaus 2014). Meta-analyses (Tol 2008; Tol 2011; Tol 2013) of independent SCC estimates have been conducted, with the most recent work (Tol 2013) finding mean and median SCC values of \$53 and \$37, respectively, and an associated standard deviation of \$88. Tol (2013) developed these values based on 75 studies containing 588 estimates of the SCC. Havranek et al. (2015) build on the work by Tol (2013) and attempt to correct for selective reporting bias, finding a mean SCC estimate between \$0 and \$39. Still others, such as van den Bergh and Botzen (2014), argue for a *lower bound* SCC value of \$125.

³³ We do not consider the possible erosion of the GHG or air emissions benefits due to the increased cycling, ramping, and part loading required of fossil fueled generators in electric systems with higher penetrations of variable renewable generation, as these impacts are not fully considered in ReEDS. This omission will not meaningfully bias our results, however, because the available literature demonstrates that these impacts are generally relatively small (Fripp 2011; Göransson and Johnsson 2009; Gross et al. 2006; Pehnt et al. 2008; Perez-Arriaga and Batlle 2012; Oates and Jaramillo 2013; Valentino et al. 2012; GE Energy Consulting 2014; Lew et al. 2013).

³⁴ See <u>http://www.nrel.gov/harmonization.</u>

³⁵ Specifically, median life-cycle, non-combustion GHG emission values were identified for each generation technology and for the fuel cycle, construction, and decommissioning phases based on the NREL's Life Cycle Assessment Harmonization project literature assessment. We use the same emission factors as those employed in the Hydropower Vision study (DOE 2016, Appendix G). To estimate non-combustion GHG emissions from the fuel cycle, we use the electricity-production estimates (in) provided by ReEDS for all generation technologies and apply the median, literature-derived estimates of technology-specific, non-combustion fuel-cycle GHG emissions. There is uncertainty in these estimates (Brandt et al. 2014, Arent et al. 2015). We assume that biomass GHG combustion emissions are entirely offset by carbon absorption to produce the biomass feedstocks (i.e., we do not estimate land-use related emissions), and that any landfill gas used for electric production would otherwise have been flared. To estimate GHG emissions from construction, we use the capacity estimates of technology-specific, construction-related GHG emissions. Finally, to estimate GHG emissions from decommissioning, we use decommissioning capacity estimates (in megawatts) provided by ReEDS over the 2015 to 2050 timeframe and apply the median, literature-derived estimates of technology-specific, construction-related GHG emissions. Finally, to estimate GHG emissions from decommissioning, we use decommissioning capacity estimates (in megawatts) provided by ReEDS over the 2015 to 2050 timeframe and apply the median, literature-derived estimates of technology-specific, decommissioning-related GHG emissions.

U.S. government regulatory bodies use estimates for the SCC that were determined by the U.S. Interagency Working Group (IWG) on the Social Cost of Greenhouse Gas Emissions (IWG 2010; IWG 2015) when formulating policy (GAO 2014; Kopp and Mignone 2012).³⁶ The SCC estimates from the IWG represent global future damages from GHG emitted in a particular year, with the future damages calculated in present value terms using a selected range of discount rates. To address the range of assumptions that can be used to formulate the SCC, the IWG provides four different SCC estimates (e.g. for 2010: \$11, \$33, \$53, and \$90, with the value of \$33 described as the central estimate). Thus, the IWG SCC estimates cover a similar range to that found in the meta-analyses described above.

As an alternative to valuing GHG reductions based on the SCC, we also value those reductions based on the possible cost of complying with legal requirements to reduce GHG emissions. The EPA may limit GHG emissions from existing and new power plants through the CPP (EPA 2015a; EPA 2015b; Luckow et al. 2016), though the legal fate of the CPP is unclear. When binding cap-and-trade programs are used to limit GHG emissions, the climate-change benefits of RE might best be valued based on the cost of complying with those legal requirements (Barbose et al. 2008; Cullen 2013; Siler-Evans et al. 2013). In this case, the GHG benefits of RE come in the form of helping to meet the carbon-reduction target and thereby offsetting some of the "marginal" costs of complying with the policy.

Specifically, we value the potential compliance-cost savings of GHG reductions based on two sets of estimates. First, we use EPA estimates of the average national cost of complying with the CPP under both mass-based and rate-base application (EPA 2015a).³⁷ Those estimates are provided by EPA for 2020, 2025, and 2030; we interpolate between these years to estimate costs in intervening periods and further assume the 2030 compliance cost estimates remain constant through 2050. Second, we use Synapse Energy Economics projections of carbon costs under "low," "medium," and "high" trajectories (Luckow et al. 2016). Synapse considers the possibility of more stringent long-term carbon-reduction goals than envisioned by the CPP and so estimates higher costs than those from EPA (2015a).³⁸

Water Use Reduction Benefits

Electric sector water usage comes in two forms. *Withdrawal* is defined as water removed from and then returned to a source. *Consumption* is defined as water that is removed from but not returned to its source. Withdrawals include cooling water returned to its source at a higher temperature; consumption includes water evaporated for cooling. We estimate the impacts of the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios on both withdrawals and consumption relative to the No RPS scenario and present results based on the 18 U.S. Geological Survey Hydrologic Unit Code watershed regions (Seaber et al. 1987).

Electric sector water withdrawal and consumption were estimated within ReEDS for all generation types. ReEDS includes representations of cost, performance, and water-use characteristics by generation type and cooling system technology, and new power plant construction is limited by water availability

³⁶ The Technical Support Document "Technical Update of the Social Cost of Carbon for Regulatory Impact Analysis Under Executive Order 12866," describes recent updates to the IWG work, including additional discussion of uncertainty.

³⁷ While EPA has also estimated state-level marginal carbon-abatement costs, we prefer to use national average estimates because of the uncertainty introduced at the state- level due to the flexibility allowed in a state achieving the CPP. Also, average cost estimates may be more appropriate than marginal estimates as the carbon reductions associated with the two core scenarios analyzed for this report represent either a sizable contribution to CPP compliance (Existing RPS scenario) or reflect full compliance with the CPP (High RE scenario).

³⁸ Note that we apply the IWG SCC estimates to the estimated life-cycle GHG emissions savings (in CO₂equivalent) whereas we apply compliance cost estimates only to combustion-related electric-sector emissions (only CO₂) because EPA CPP regulations, if enacted, would apply only to the electric sector.

(Macknick et al. 2015). ReEDS incorporates a representation of cooling systems for the existing generation fleet based on an analysis of individual power-generating units as described elsewhere (Averyt et al. 2013; UCS 2012). Various changes in the electricity sector, such as coal plant retirements, new combined-cycle natural gas plant construction, and increased dry cooling use, can impact water use. These changes, in turn, may be driven in part by future water policies, which could affect estimated water impacts. Following Macknick et al. (2012) and Tidwell et al. (2013), new power plants modeled in ReEDS do not have the option of installing once-through cooling technologies.

We focus exclusively on operational water-use requirements because thermoelectric water withdrawals and consumption during plant operations are orders of magnitude greater than the demands from other life-cycle stages (Meldrum et al. 2013). Thermal power plants using once-through cooling withdraw far more water for every megawatt-hour of electricity generated than do plants using recirculating cooling systems. For water consumption, however, once-through cooling has lower demands than recirculating systems. Dry cooling can be used to reduce both withdrawal and consumption for thermal plants but at a cost and efficiency penalty (EPA 2009). Non-thermal RE technologies, such as photovoltaics and wind, do not require water for cooling and thus have low operational water-use intensities. All new concentrating solar power capacity is modeled with cost and performance characteristics consistent with dry cooling, landfill gas facilities are assumed to require no water for operations, and hydropower evaporation is not considered.

Electric-sector water savings provide economic and environmental benefits, especially in regions where water is limited and could be used for other ecosystem or societal services. Reducing electric sector dependence on water can also reduce the vulnerability of electricity supply to the availability or temperature of water, and help ease concerns over energy sector vulnerabilities to climate change (DOE 2013). And the lower life-cycle water requirements of some renewable technologies can help alleviate other energy-sector impacts on water resource quality and quantity that take place during upstream fuel production for other technologies (Averyt et al. 2011). Because there is no standard, literature-based methodology to quantify the monetary benefits of these water-use reductions (DOE 2015, we do not quantify the benefits of water-use reductions in monetary terms.

Gross Renewable Energy Workforce Requirement and Economic Development Impacts

We estimate the potential <u>gross</u> domestic RE-related jobs and other economic impacts associated with the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario. Such estimates may provide governments, stakeholders, and other interested parties information about how RE expenditures could translate to gross RE workforce needs and associated gross domestic product, earnings, and economic activity in the United States.

It must be emphasized, however, that our analysis does not include an assessment of economy-wide <u>net</u> impacts, and we therefore make no claim of net benefits or costs.³⁹ Accordingly, we refer to the estimated RE workforce and economic effects as impacts rather than benefits. Impacts such as displacement of jobs in fossil fuels or displaced investment in general are not included.

³⁹ Increased renewable generation displaces demand for other sources of electric generation, impacting job totals and economic development associated with those sectors. Additionally, to the extent that increased renewable energy impacts the cost of energy, or has other macroeconomic effects, this too may affect employment in the broader economy. In general, there is little reason to believe that net impacts are likely to be sizable in either the positive or negative direction, at least at an international or national scale (e.g., Rivers 2013). Moreover, even were net positive effects likely, questions remain as to whether such effects serve as economic justification for government policy (e.g., Borenstein 2012; Edenhofer et al. 2013; Gillingham and Sweney 2010; Morris et al. 2012).

To assess the potential gross RE-related workforce requirements and economic-development impacts of the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, we use NREL's Jobs and Economic Development Impacts (JEDI) suite of models as well as IMPLAN, applying those models to estimate the gross impacts associated with ReEDS-estimated capacity additions and generation of wind, solar, geothermal, landfill gas, hydropower, and biomass. JEDI is an input-output model based on IMPLAN and has been used extensively in national and regional assessments. Because there is no landfill gas module in the JEDI suite, we use IMPLAN parameterized with cost assumptions from Jensen et al. (2010). Assumptions for "domestic content"—the portion of expenditures made in the United States—for RE technologies are based on JEDI default data and Jensen et al. (2010).^{40,41}

We estimate gross domestic job needs and economic development impacts associated with both the operation and construction (including domestic manufacturing of equipment subsequently installed) of RE facilities. Four metrics are presented: gross jobs, earnings, output, and gross domestic product. Jobs are expressed as full time equivalent, which is the same as one job-year, the equivalent of one person working 40 hours per week for one year. Earnings include wages, salaries, and employer-provided supplements such as health insurance and retirement contributions. Output is a measure of overall economic activity. At an individual business, it could be thought of as revenue. This revenue includes payments for inputs as well as payroll and taxes, and property-type payments (including profits or payments to investors). Gross domestic product is solely a measure of the value of production. It includes payments to workers, property-type income, and taxes.

These four metrics can be segmented into three categories: onsite, supply chain, and induced. Onsite impacts are most directly related to the project; these include installers, construction workers, plant operators, and other maintenance personnel. Supply chain impacts arise as a result of domestic expenditures by the developer, installer, or operator; these include construction material providers, equipment manufacturers, and consultants. Induced impacts arise as a result of onsite and supply chain workers making expenditures within the United States; these impacts are often in retail sales, leisure and hospitality, education, and health services. In all cases, we only report domestic jobs and impacts. All results produced by JEDI and IMPLAN are for the equivalent of a single year, although results are presented in both single years and cumulatively over multiple years (e.g., 2015–2050). Results are reported on a national basis and, for onsite jobs only, on a regional basis.⁴²

Aside from only estimating gross impacts, there are several limitations to using input-output models such as JEDI and IMPLAN. Perhaps most importantly, these models do not make assumptions about future changes in the economy such as technology improvements, changes in relative prices, or changes in tax rates that could cause producers to substitute inputs or change how much they purchase in the United States. Model results should therefore be interpreted as gross impacts that could take place given the structure of the economy as it exists at the time of publication of this report.

Natural Gas Price Reduction Impacts

Though RE is not free of risk, it relies on a domestic "fuel" stream not subject to significant resource exhaustion or price uncertainty. Various methods have been used to assess the benefits of these characteristics as well as the benefits of electricity supply diversity more generally (Awerbuch 1993;

⁴⁰ Default data are used to ensure that each technology is treated as similarly as possible to maintain consistency. Model estimates using default data have historically come close to job counts at actual projects and numbers published by other researchers (Billman and Keyser 2013).

⁴¹ Domestic content is specified for project expenditures.

⁴² We do not estimate supply chain or induced economic impacts by region because of uncertainty relating to where in the United States those impacts take place.

Bazilian and Roques 2008; Bolinger 2013; Bolinger et al. 2006; Jenkin et al. 2013; Stirling 2010; Wiser and Bolinger 2006). Many of these methods have proven to be incomplete or even controversial, however, and standardized approaches to benefit quantification have not emerged.

Increased use of RE mitigates long-term fossil fuel price risks in one way that can be readily quantified. Specifically, by reducing demand for fossil fuels, RE can place downward pressure on fossil fuel prices with benefits to energy consumers both within and outside of the electricity sector. We estimate these effects for the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario, focusing on impacts to natural gas prices.⁴³

Specifically, ReEDS is used to estimate the impact of the various scenarios on natural gas demand and regional gas prices; these price impacts are estimated within ReEDS based on results from the EIA's *Annual Energy Outlook* model scenarios.⁴⁴ Natural gas price impacts within the electric sector are addressed within ReEDS and are embedded within the cost and electricity price metrics discussed earlier. The effects of natural gas price changes outside of the electric sector, however, are not included within ReEDS. To estimate these consumer natural gas bill savings we apply the regional natural gas price changes to EIA estimates of future non-electric sector regional gas demand.⁴⁵

These consumer natural gas bill savings come at the expense of natural gas producers and so represent a transfer payment. While individual states may experience net benefits from these transfers—e.g., states that consume more natural gas than they produce—others may experience the opposite. We therefore refer to this effect as an impact rather than a benefit and make no claim of a net societal gain.

⁴³ Within a simple economics supply/demand framework, this gas price effect can be represented by the demand curve for natural gas shifting inward along the supply curve. Presuming the supply curve has an upward slope and does not change in response to the demand shift, the demand shift will result in a lower price. Although demand for coal within the electricity sector also declines as a result of increased renewable generation, we do not analyze potential impacts on coal prices because the long-term inverse price elasticity of supply is generally thought to be lower for coal than for natural gas (Wiser and Bolinger 2007).

⁴⁴ Cole, Medlock, and Jani (2016) and Eurek et al. (2016) describe the methodology behind the regional and national natural gas supply curves (price vs. electric sector consumption) used in ReEDS. The parameterization of these supply curves are based on data from scenarios in the EIA Annual Energy Outlook (EIA 2014; EIA 2016).

⁴⁵ There is inherent uncertainty in the response of natural gas prices to natural gas demand. The results estimated here are consistent with assumptions and approaches used by EIA, but are inherently uncertain. Consistent with EIA, we further assume that national wellhead gas price changes flow through fully to delivered natural gas prices in all regions and across all sectors, and that consumers are fully exposed to those price changes. We do not fully account for the possibility that any price changes could yield a rebound in natural gas demand, including possibilities for natural gas exports.

3. RENEWABLE DEPLOYMENT AND AVOIDED FOSSIL GENERATION UNDER EXISTING RPSs AND EXPANDED RE SCENARIOS

This section describes projected annual energy generation and installed capacity by technology type under each of the scenarios examined in the analysis. Differences in generation and capacity across the scenarios are the basis for the estimated costs, benefits, and other impacts presented in Sections 4 and 6.

Figure 3.1 shows the RE penetration as a fraction of total annual generation under each of the three scenarios, as calculated by the ReEDs model. By 2030, renewables (including hydropower) are estimated to grow to 26% of energy generation under the Existing RPS scenario, compared to 21% under the No RPS scenario and 35% under the High RE scenario. These estimates are up from a 14% renewable penetration level in 2015, of which about half consists of hydropower. By 2050, renewables reach 34% under the No RPS scenario, 40% under the Existing RPS scenario, and 49% under the High RE scenario. The general trends in RE penetration shown in Figure 3.1—rapid growth through 2020, followed by steady or flat growth between 2020 and 2040, and increasing growth rates after 2040—are primarily driven by the underlying policy, technology cost, and fuel price assumptions. More specifically, the modeling analysis finds that the federal RE tax credits to be effective at driving significant RE growth in the near term, but after their expirations, growth in RE generation does not significantly exceed demand growth. In the longer term, the scenarios show that the assumed reductions in RE technology costs combined with increasing natural gas prices result in rapid RE growth during the last decade of the analysis.⁴⁶





The Existing RPS scenario leads to 66 gigawatts (GW) of renewables above the No RPS scenario by 2030, or an additional 218 terawatt-hours (TWh) of renewable generation in 2030 (see Figure 3.2).⁴⁷ Most of the additional capacity and generation is composed of wind and solar, but there is also significant incremental generation from biomass and geothermal. Specifically, by 2030, the Existing RPS scenario shows an additional 42 GW of solar (both utility scale and distributed), 19 GW of wind, and the remaining 5 GW from biomass, geothermal, and hydropower. On a generation basis, contributions are

⁴⁶ The NREL 2016 Standard Scenarios report (Cole et al. 2016) provides results and discussion of a broader set of scenarios that use very similar, though not precisely the same, assumptions as the scenarios here.

⁴⁷ The Existing RPS scenario allows for economic RE deployment, i.e. deployment beyond the RPS requirements. For example, we estimate annual RE generation to grow by nearly 600 TWh between 2014 and 2030, and by about 1570 TWh by 2050; these levels well exceed the increase in estimated growth in RPS requirements over the corresponding periods.



more evenly spread across technologies, with solar contributing 83 TWh, 74 TWh from wind, and 61 TWh from the combination of biomass, geothermal, and hydropower in 2030.⁴⁸

Figure 3.2. Difference in capacity (top) and generation (bottom) between the Existing RPS and No RPS scenarios through 2050

By 2050, the Existing RPS scenario requires an additional 122 GW of renewable capacity beyond that in the No RPS scenario, or 296 TWh of incremental RE generation. Solar represents a substantially larger fraction of the incremental capacity and generation in the 2050 timeframe.

The new RE generation in the Existing RPS scenario largely offsets fossil generation, with a greater amount of coal offset before 2030 but more natural gas offset in the longer term. In 2030, the renewable generation fairly evenly offsets coal generation and natural gas generation from combined cycle units (see Figure 3.2). By 2050, the vast majority of displaced generation is from natural gas combined cycle units. Avoided fossil capacity is also found in the Existing RPS scenario with nearly 40 GW of avoided natural gas combined cycle capacity by the 2040s and additional coal capacity retirements of less than about 5

⁴⁸ The scenario outcomes between renewable technologies can be sensitive to the assumptions used. Given uncertainties associated with future technology costs, different technology distributions for RE used to meet growing RPS requirements from those in Figures 3.2 and 3.3 are ultimately likely. However, we note that prior studies (DOE 2015; DOE 2016; Wiser et al. 2016b) have found similar benefits between different RE options.

GW.⁴⁹ However, we find greater deployment of natural gas combustion turbine peaking capacity in the Existing RPS scenario compared with the No RPS scenario. This result, which is most prominent in the long term after 2030, reflects the need for firm capacity with growing electricity consumption. On net, fossil capacity is lower in the Existing RPS compared to the No RPS scenario, suggesting that the incremental RE from the former scenario possesses some capacity credit.

The High RE scenario results in 215 GW of renewables above the No RPS scenario by 2030, or 627 TWh of incremental renewable generation (see Figure 3.3). Wind and solar are the dominant RE technologies deployed in the High RE scenario, although we estimate some incremental biomass, geothermal, and hydropower generation in the 2030 timeframe. Specifically, the High RE scenario includes an incremental 137 GW of solar and 71 GW of wind. On a generation basis, the incremental wind and solar generation are of very similar magnitude (280 TWh wind, 273 TWh solar), while biomass, geothermal, and hydropower contribute an additional 73 TWh above the No RPS scenario by 2030.



Figure 3.3. Difference in capacity (top) and generation (bottom) between the High RE and No RPS scenarios through 2050

⁴⁹ ReEDS does not install new coal capacity in any of the scenarios. Differences in coal capacity reflect greater retirements of coal plants with high RE shares. Coal retirements in ReEDS are modeled based on lifetimes, announced retirements, and estimated utilization (Eurek et al. 2016). The latter method is responsible for any differences in coal capacity between the scenarios.

In the longer term, by 2050 the High RE scenario requires 331 GW of RE capacity above the No RPS scenario, or 765 TWh of incremental renewable generation. By 2050, capacity additions are dominated by solar, but there is also significant incremental wind and natural gas combustion turbine capacity compared to the No RPS scenario. Incremental generation in 2050 is still split relatively evenly between solar and wind.

Coal is the dominant form of avoided generation in the High RE scenario, even more so than in the Existing RPS scenario. In 2030, more than 80% of the displaced fossil fuel generation is coal, with the remainder primarily from natural gas combined cycle units. In the longer term, more natural gas generation is displaced, but coal displacement is still substantial.

Figure 3.4 further highlights the differences in cumulative displacement of fossil generation under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario, as well as how displacement changes in the near term (before 2030) and the longer term. While the Existing RPS scenario offsets more natural gas in the longer term, the High RE scenario displaces substantial coal generation in both the short and longer term. Under the Existing RPS scenario, more than half of cumulative displacements are coal generation in the near term, but coal falls to about one-third of displacements in the longer term as more natural gas generation from combined cycle units is displaced. For the High RE scenario, coal represents more than 80% of cumulative displacements in the near term, and a little more than two-thirds of displacements in the longer term.



Figure 3.4. Difference in cumulative generation between the Existing RPS (left) and High RE (right) scenarios relative to No RPS

The amount and type of displaced fossil generation is explained in part by regional deployment of renewables as well as the assumed drivers behind incremental RE deployment in the scenarios. For the Existing RPS scenario, regional variations in renewable generation depend on state RPS policies, including the magnitude and timing of RPS targets, while fossil displacement is also affected by other regional factors such as the existing generator fleet, anticipated coal plant or other plant retirements, and future fuel prices. In general, states with RPS policies are typically not as coal-reliant as non-RPS states, thereby resulting in relatively low levels of avoided coal generation in the Existing RPS scenario. In contrast, the High RE scenario effectively applies to all states. Moreover, emission constraints are the primary drivers in the High RE scenario results in much greater levels of avoided coal generation than in the Existing RPS scenario.

Figure 3.5 shows cumulative RE generation for the Existing RPS scenario and High RE scenario relative to the No RPS scenario in the nine census divisions. Under the Existing RPS scenario, the Pacific region in particular results in substantial incremental RE generation in the near term as well as the longer term. Other regions with lesser but still substantial incremental renewable generation under the Existing RPS scenario, particularly by 2050, include the East North Central region, the Middle Atlantic, New England, and the Mountain region. Notably and as described previously, the significant RPS-required renewable generation in New England and the Pacific region largely offsets gas while smaller amounts of incremental renewables elsewhere help reduce more coal.

In general, the distribution of incremental renewable generation is more uniform in the High RE scenario. The greatest absolute amounts of incremental renewables under the High RE scenario are found in the Midwest (East and West North Central regions), Pacific, and South Atlantic regions. On a percent basis, incremental renewable generation is even more uniformly distributed between census regions.



Figure 3.5. Regional incremental RE generation relative to No RPS
4. COSTS OF EXISTING RPSs AND EXPANDED RE

The ReEDS model directly estimates costs in each scenario. Here we present those results by comparing costs for the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario in terms of the two cost metrics introduced earlier: (1) the net present value of system costs, and (2) average retail electricity prices. For both metrics, we present the results in terms of the *incremental* cost relative to the No RPS scenario. Rather than focusing on central-case cost estimates, we instead present the *range* in incremental costs across sensitivity cases related to natural gas prices and renewable technology costs.⁵⁰

We also compare the estimated *prospective* incremental electric system costs with historical compliance costs reported by utilities, state regulatory agencies, and others (Heeter et al. 2014; Barbose et al. 2015).

SYSTEM COSTS

The national electric system costs presented in Figure 4.1 are based on the net present value of all electric system expenditures from 2015 to 2050, including fuel, O&M, and capital costs for new generation, interconnection, transmission, and storage infrastructure. For the Existing RPS scenario, incremental costs were estimated to range from \pm \$31 billion (-0.7% to 0.8% on a national basis inclusive of the states with and without RPS polices) relative to the No RPS scenario. On a levelized basis, this equates to about \pm 0.75 cents per kWh of renewable electricity (¢/kWh-RE).⁵¹ The fact that the low end of the cost range is negative implies that, under certain conditions (namely, high natural gas prices or low renewable energy technology costs), RE used to meet existing RPS policies results in a net savings to the electric system. Conversely, when gas prices are relatively low or when renewable energy technology costs are high, RE used for existing RPS requirements results in a net cost. In either case, however, the net effect (whether positive or negative) is quite small as a share of overall system costs.

For the High RE scenario, the range in incremental system costs is much wider. Under this scenario, incremental system costs ranged from \$23 billion (0.6% of total system costs) to \$194 billion (4.5% of total system costs) across the sensitivity cases. This equates to 0.26 ¢/kWh-RE to 1.5 ¢/kWh-RE on a levelized basis. The upper bound of the range corresponds to the sensitivity with high RE technology costs.

⁵⁰ Whereas the benefits and impacts presented in Sections 5 and 6 are based only on scenarios using *central* assumptions for renewable energy technology costs and natural gas prices.

⁵¹ Reported levelized system costs are defined as the incremental present value of system costs (in dollars) divided by the present value of incremental RE generation (in kilowatt-hours or megawatt-hours) relative to the No RPS scenario. We use a 3% real discount rate for both present value calculations.



Figure 4.1. Present value incremental system cost compared to No RPS, 2015–2050

As a point of comparison, previous work by Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory and NREL estimated historical RPS compliance costs based on data reported by utilities, state regulatory agencies, and others (Barbose et al. 2015; Heeter et al. 2014).⁵² Those analyses and subsequent data updates found that for 2012–2014, the incremental cost of RPS compliance averaged around 1¢/kWh-RE, though costs varied by state. This is roughly in line with the upper end of the range estimated here for the Existing RPS scenario, which is about 0.75¢/kWh-RE.

ELECTRICITY PRICES

Figure 4.2 shows average electricity prices in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS scenario, with ranges reflecting variations across sensitivity cases as well as across regions. A positive number implies higher electricity prices and a negative number implies lower electricity prices than in the No RPS scenario. One important difference relative to the incremental system costs described earlier is that the modeled impacts on electricity prices reflect RE tax credits (which are not included when calculating system costs for reasons noted previously). As a result, the incremental effects on electricity prices tend to be lower than the effects on system costs.

Based on our modeled results, the Existing RPS scenario may result in up to roughly a $1 \notin/kWh$ increase in electricity prices on the high end. The upper-bound estimate generally grows until 2030 and stays relatively flat thereafter, with an average effect of about $0.7 \notin/kWh$ per year. On the low end of the range, the Existing RPS scenario results in a reduction in electricity prices relative to the No RPS scenario, although the magnitude of this effect varies significantly from year to year (and across regions).

For the High RE scenario, the upper bound to the range of electricity price effects is considerably higher than in the Existing RPS scenario. Specifically, relative prices are estimated to peak at about 4.2 ¢/kWh higher than the No RPS case with an average over all years of about 2.9 ¢/kWh. The low end of the range of incremental prices for the High RE scenario is similar to those for the Existing RPS scenario.

⁵² As discussed in Section 2, our scenario constructs evaluate the impacts of all RE used to meet RPS demand growth. Incremental costs are estimated relative to the No RPS scenario, which has an upper limit on RE generation. Because of issues around additionality, these incremental values do not reflect directly the incremental cost of the RPS *policies*, and therefore care is warranted in comparing our reported incremental costs with other estimates.



Figure 4.2. Range of electricity prices relative to No RPS scenario

While Figure 4.2 captures the full range of incremental prices across all regions and scenarios, electricity price impacts also vary across regions. Figure 4.3 shows the estimated range of 2030 incremental prices by census division across the full set of natural gas and renewable technology cost sensitivities. For the Existing RPS scenario, we find a narrow range of 2030 incremental prices. In most regions, 2030 incremental prices fall within a band of $\pm 0.35 \text{¢/kWh}$. The New England and Pacific regions, which contain states with some of the more stringent RPS policies, are exceptions with 2030 incremental prices ranging from about -0.4 ¢/kWh up to about 1 ¢/kWh. For the High RE scenario, high-end 2030 incremental prices are estimated to be highest in the New England (4 ¢/kWh) and Middle Atlantic (3.6 ¢/kWh) regions. All other regions have high-end 2030 incremental prices for the High RE scenario vary from -0.1 ¢/kWh (Pacific region) to about 0.4 ¢/kWh (New England and Middle Atlantic regions).



Figure 4.3. Regional ranges of 2030 retail electricity prices relative to No RPS scenario

5. BENEFITS OF EXISTING RPSs AND EXPANDED RE

Using the methods discussed earlier, we evaluate three potential benefits associated with the Existing RPS and High RE scenario, both relative to the No RPS scenario:⁵³

- Air pollutant emissions and human health and environmental benefits
- GHG emissions reduction benefits
- Water use reduction benefits.

We report results in physical units and—where credible methods exist—in monetary terms.

AIR POLLUTANT EMISSIONS, HUMAN HEALTH, AND ENVIRONMENTAL BENEFITS

The Existing RPS scenario reduces national electricity sector emissions of SO₂, NO_x, and PM_{2.5} by 7.8%, 7.2%, and 6.0% in 2030 and by 4.6%, 5.0%, and 4.1% in 2050 relative to the No RPS baseline scenario (Figure 5.1). The High RE scenario drives greater reductions: SO₂ (35% in 2030, 34% in 2050), NO_x (34% in 2030, 32% in 2050), and PM_{2.5} (33% in 2030, 32% in 2050). Percentage savings do not grow with time because, as shown earlier, greater proportions of natural gas are found to be offset (and lower proportions of coal) during the later years of the forecast period.

Cumulative emission savings under the Existing RPS scenario from 2015 to 2050 (and as a percentage of total electricity sector emissions) equal 2.1 million metric tons of SO₂ (5.5%), 2.5 million metric tons of NO_x (5.7%), and 0.3 million metric tons of PM_{2.5} (4.5%). The High RE scenario leads to emission savings of 11.1 (29%), 12.8 (29%), and 1.8 (29%) million metric tons of SO₂, NO_x, and PM_{2.5}, respectively.

⁵³ The benefits and impacts presented in this section and the next are based only on scenarios using central assumptions for renewable energy technology costs and natural gas prices. The ranges presented reflect underlying uncertainties within each benefit or impact category but, unlike the cost results from Section 4, do not reflect the full range of scenario results.

(a) SO₂ emissions



As shown in Figure 5.2, regional reductions are concentrated in areas with significant RE deployment that offsets coal-fired generation. Under the Existing RPS scenario, reductions are most sizable in the West South Central region. Under the High RE scenario, significant emission reductions accrue throughout much of the eastern half of the country, especially in the East North Central and South Atlantic areas. Some regions see small emissions increases under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios; where this takes place, it is due to the estimated growth in biomass generation in these regions.

(a) SO₂ emissions







(c) PM_{2.5} emissions





All units in thousands of metric tons; note smaller scale for PM_{2.5}.

These emissions reductions lead to improved air quality and health outcomes across the continental United States. Estimates of the monetary value of these benefits are shown in Figure 5.3 (Existing RPS) and Figure 5.4 (High RE) across the full range of methods applied.

Existing RPS: Total health and environmental benefits from the Existing RPS scenario fall in the range of \$48–\$175 billion on a discounted, present-value basis. The average "central" estimate is \$97 billion, which is equivalent to a levelized benefit of RE of 2.4 ¢/kWh-RE; the total range is 1.2-4.2 ¢/kWh-RE (Figure 5.3). The range of benefits estimates reflects uncertainties in how to value emissions reductions.





High RE: Under the High RE scenario, total benefits range from \$303 billion to \$917 billion on a present-value basis. The average "central" estimate is \$558 billion, which is equivalent to a levelized benefit of 5.0 ¢/kWh-RE; the total range is 2.7-8.2 ¢/kWh-RE (Figure 5.4). The divergence between the per-kilowatt-hour benefits of the High RE scenario relative to the Existing RPS scenario is again a consequence of the higher proportion of coal avoided under the former scenario.



Figure 5.4. Present value (2015–2050) air pollution benefits, High RE relative to No RPS



Across both scenarios, reduction of SO_2 and the subsequent reduction of particulate sulfate concentrations account for the majority of the monetized benefits (Table 5.1). These benefits accrue primarily due to displacement of coal generation in the central and eastern United States.

Most of the health benefits come from avoided premature mortality, primarily associated with reduced chronic exposure to ambient $PM_{2.5}$ (largely derived from the transformation of SO₂ to sulfate particles, but also from transformation of NO_x to nitrate particles and direct $PM_{2.5}$ exposure). Based on the EPA approach, achieving the Existing RPS scenario prevents 12,000–28,000 premature mortalities in total from 2015 to 2050; the High RE scenario avoids 70,000 to 166,000 premature mortalities. These futures also result in numerous forms of avoided morbidity outcomes, as summarized in Table 5.1.

Table 5.1. Emissions reductions, monetized benefits, and mortality and morbidity benefits (2015–2050), Existing RPS and High RE
relative to No RPS

	Exisiting RPS Benefits					High RE Benefits			
Impacts	SO2	NOx	PM2.5	Total		SO2	NOx	PM2.5	Total
Emissions Reductions (millions metric tons)									
RPS air pollution reductions	2.1	2.5	0.3			11.1	12.8	1.8	
Total Monetized Benefits (Present Value - Billions 2015\$)									
EPA Low benefits	56	10	7	73		291	52	45	388
EPA High benefits	126	34	15	175		645	174	98	917
EASIUR Low benefits	34	13	13	60		190	77	102	369
EASIUR High benefits	75	29	28	132		418	169	225	812
AP2 benefits	31	11	5	48		198	53	52	303
EPA Total Mortality Reductions									
EPA Low mortality reductions	9,000	2,000	1,000	12,000		53,000	9,000	8,000	70,000
EPA High mortality reductions	21,000	5,000	2,000	28,000		120,000	27,000	19,000	166,000
EPA Morbidity Reductions from Primary and									
Secondary PM _{2.5} Impacts									
Emergency department visits for asthma (all ages)	3,000	300	400	3,700		13,500	1,400	2,500	17,400
Acute bronchitis (age 8-12)	12,500	1,300	1,500	15,300		71,000	7,300	11,200	89,500
Lower respiratory symptoms (age 7-14)	159,200	16,100	18,400	193,700		908,600	89,600	141,200	1,139,400
Upper respiratory symptoms (asthmatics age 9-11)	238,900	23,300	26,500	288,700	1,	403,800	130,100	203,400	1,737,300
Minor restricted-activity days (age 18-65)	6,147,000	624,300	707,500	7,478,800	34	,922,900	3,502,500	5,318,500	43,743,900
Lost work days (age 18-65)	1,010,400	101,100	116,400	1,227,900	5,	700,000	555,100	870,600	7,125,700
Asthma exacerbation (age 6-18)	551,800	58,100	63,400	673,300	3,	146,000	326,800	484,000	3,956,800
Hospital Admissions-Respiratory (all ages)	2,800	300	300	3,400		16,200	1,700	2,600	20,500
Hospital Admissions-Cardiovascular (age > 18)	3,500	400	400	4,300		21,000	2,200	3,200	26,400
Non-fatal Heart Attacks	10,600	1,100	1,300	13,000		62,600	6,200	9,900	78,700
Non-fatal Heart Attacks (Pooled estimates - 4 studies)	1,200	100	100	1,400		6,900	700	1,100	8,700
EPA Morbidity Reductions from NO _x > Ozone									
Impacts									
Hospital Admissions, Respiratory (ages > 65)		4,400		4,400			25,400		25,400
Hospital Admissions, Respiratory (ages < 2)		1,900		1,900			9,900		9,900
Emergency Room Visits, Respiratory (all ages)		2,000		2,000			10,700		10,700
Acute Respiratory Symptoms (ages 18-65)		3,509,500		3,509,500			18,479,500		18,479,500
School Loss Days		1,162,400		1,162,400			5,925,600		5,925,600

Note: Monetized benefits are discounted at 3% (real), but emissions reductions and mortality and morbidity values are simply summed over the 2015–2050 period. EPA benefits derive from mortality and morbidity estimates based on population exposure to direct emissions of $PM_{2.5}$ and secondary $PM_{2.5}$ (from SO₂ and NO_x emissions) as well as ozone exposure from NO_x emissions during the ozone season (May–September). AP2 benefits are derived from mortality and morbidity estimates based on population exposure to direct emissions of $PM_{2.5}$ (from SO₂ and NO_x emissions) as well as ozone exposure from NO_x emissions during the ozone season (May–September). AP2 benefits are derived from NO_x emissions during the ozone season (May–September). AP2 benefits are derived from NO_x emissions during the ozone season (May–September). AP2 benefits also include consequences from decreased timber and agriculture yields, reduced visibility, accelerated degradation of materials, and reductions in recreation services. EASIUR benefits derive from mortality estimates based on population exposure to direct emissions of $PM_{2.5}$ (from SO₂ and NO_x emissions), but do not include morbidity benefits or ozone benefits. Morbidity incidences estimates are derived from EPA; unlike mortality estimates, EPA does not assign separate high and low estimates.

GHG Emissions Reduction Benefits

Achieving the Existing RPS scenario reduces life-cycle GHG emissions from the electricity sector by 7% in 2030 and 6% in 2050 relative to the No RPS baseline scenario (Figure 5.5). The High RE scenario results in far greater GHG reductions: 27% in 2030 and 25% in 2050. Cumulative GHG savings from 2015 to 2050 in the Existing RPS scenario equal 4.7 billion metric tons of CO₂-equivalent, representing 6% of total life-cycle emissions from the electricity sector over that same time period. Under the High RE scenario, GHG savings equal 18.1 billion metric tons, equivalent to 23% of total life-cycle emission in the electricity sector from 2015 to 2050.





Emissions reductions from avoided fossil-fuel combustion (2015 to 2050) are estimated with ReEDS at 4.5 billion and 17.4 billion metric tons of CO_2 under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, respectively. These savings are somewhat smaller than the full life-cycle reductions, demonstrating that the emissions from the non-combustion phases of RE deployment are lower than for fossil fuels.

As shown in Figure 5.6, combustion-related CO_2 savings vary by region, timeframe, and scenario. Under the Existing RPS scenario, significant reductions accrue in most regions outside of the Southeast. Overall reductions are substantially greater in the High RE scenario and are particularly sizable in the East North Central and South Atlantic regions. These results are driven both by the relative amount and location of RE deployment in these scenarios and by the degree to which higher-carbon-emitting plants are displaced. The non-combustion, life-cycle impacts are not assigned to regions (and so are not included in Figure 5.6) because of the challenges of estimating the location of upstream and downstream emissions.



Figure 5.6. Regional avoided direct-combustion CO₂ emissions relative to No RPS

Estimates of the monetary value of these GHG emissions reductions are sizable but span a large range (see Figure 5.7 for Existing RPS and Figure 5.8 for High RE)⁵⁴:

Existing RPS: Using the "central" trajectory for the SCC, discounted present-value global climate damage reductions from the Existing RPS scenario equal \$161 billion. This is equivalent to a levelized benefit of RE of 3.9¢/kWh-RE. Across the full range of SCC estimates, total benefits span \$37 billion (0.9¢/kWh-RE) to \$487 billion (11.8¢/kWh-RE), a sizable range but significant even in the lower case. If, alternatively, RE is viewed as a way to meet future carbon-reduction requirements, then the present-value benefits of achieving the Existing RPS scenario range from \$34 billion to \$140 billion (0.8-3.4¢/kWh-RE) depending on the valuation approach used. Under Synapse's "medium" trajectory for the cost of carbon, the Existing RPS scenario yields \$96 billion in savings, which is equivalent to a levelized benefit of 2.3¢/kWh-RE.

⁵⁴ In all cases, valuation estimates are based on emissions reductions that take place from 2015 through 2050: any emissions reductions after 2050 are not considered in the analysis.



Figure 5.7. Present value (2015–2050) GHG reduction benefits, Existing RPS relative to No RPS

High RE: Using the "central" trajectory for the SCC, present-value global climate damage reductions from the High RE scenario equal \$599 billion, equivalent to a levelized benefit of 5.4 ¢/kWh-RE. Across the full range of SCC estimates, benefits span \$132 billion (1.2 ¢/kWh-RE) to \$1,821 billion (16.3 ¢/kWh-RE). If, alternatively, RE is viewed as a way to meet future carbon-reduction requirements, then the present-value benefits of achieving the High RE scenario range from \$131 billion to \$614 billion (1.2 - 5.5 ¢/kWh-RE). Under Synapse's "medium" trajectory for the cost of carbon, the High RE scenario yields \$418 billion in savings, which is equivalent to a levelized benefit of 3.8 ¢/kWh-RE. The per-kilowatt-hour benefits of the High RE scenario are greater than for the Existing RPS scenario due to the larger proportion of coal (and lower proportion of natural gas) that is offset by growth in RE.



Figure 5.8. Present value (2015–2050) GHG reduction benefits, High RE relative to No RPS

WATER USE REDUCTION BENEFITS

On a national level, electricity sector water withdrawals are estimated to decline substantially over time under all scenarios, largely owing to the retirement and reduced operations of once-through-cooled thermal facilities and the assumed replacement of those plants with newer, less water-intensive generation and cooling technologies (Figure 5.9). National electricity sector water consumption also eventually declines in all scenarios, but to a lesser extent than water withdrawals because recirculating cooling has higher water consumption than once-through cooling.

Achieving the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios further reduces electricity sector water use, both compared with recent use and compared with the No RPS baseline scenario (Figure 5.9). Specifically, under the Existing RPS scenario, water consumption is 4% lower in 2030 and 7% lower in 2050 relative to the No RPS baseline, and water withdrawal is 4% lower in 2030 and 3% lower in 2050. On a cumulative basis (2015–2050), water consumption and withdrawal savings are 4% (2,200 billion gallons) and 3% (26,000 billion gallons) lower, respectively, in the Existing RPS scenario. Greater impacts are seen in the High RE scenario: relative to the No RPS baseline, water consumption is 20% lower in 2030 and 26% lower in 2030. Cumulative water use is estimated to be 18% lower in the High RE scenario, with about 9,000 billion gallons in in reduced water consumption and 169,000 billion in reduced water withdrawal.

To put these figures into context, the 2030 annual consumption savings are equivalent to the water demands of 420,000 U.S. households in the Existing RPS scenario, and 1.9 million households in the High RE scenario. On average and over the entire 2015–2050 period, each megawatt-hour of RE meeting the Existing RPS targets is found to save 3,400 gallons of water withdrawal and 290 gallons of water consumption.

Water consumption and withdrawal impacts are not uniform throughout the continental United States. Figure 5.10 presents regional cumulative water savings (2015–2050) in absolute terms and as a percent of power sector water use compared with the No RPS baseline for 18 distinct watershed regions. The amount of water saved—whether consumption or withdrawal—is affected by the amount and type of incremental RE supply and the water use associated with the displaced fossil generation units. Given these dynamics, the largest water savings—especially under the High RE scenario—accrue in regions of the United States that are not generally considered water stressed and that currently withdraw and consume larger quantities of water for power generation. Figure 5.10 highlights that although absolute water withdrawal and consumption savings are lower in the water-stressed southwestern United States, the percent savings under the Existing RPS scenario are more-consistent with savings in other regions. Under the High RE scenario, absolute and percent water savings are higher in regions other than the southwestern United States and water savings are typically greater than those found in the Existing RPS scenario. The watershed region comprising most of California shows a slight increase in cumulative water withdrawals by 2050, which are the result of higher generation levels of natural gas combined cycle technologies in California under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios.

(a) Water consumption



Figure 5.9. Electricity sector water (a) consumption and (b) withdrawal in three modeled scenarios





This report is available at no cost from the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL) at www.nrel.gov/publications.



(b) Water Withdrawal (percent savings and gallon savings from No RPS scenario)

Figure 5.10. Regional water consumption (a) and withdrawal (b) savings relative to No RPS

6. IMPACTS OF EXISTING RPS AND EXPANDED RE

Using the methods discussed earlier, we evaluate two potential impacts associated with the Existing RPS and High RE scenario, both relative to the No RPS scenario:

- Gross RE workforce and economic development impacts
- Natural gas price reduction impacts.

We make no claim of net societal benefits for these two impacts. While individual states may benefit from an increase in gross RE jobs or reduced natural gas prices, on an international or national basis these impacts are most likely to represent resource transfers. Growth in RE workforce, for example, may come at the expense of job losses elsewhere in the economy, and though net job changes are possible we do not evaluate them here. And while natural gas price reductions will unambiguously benefit energy consumers, those benefits come at the expense of natural gas producers and those who benefit from natural gas production.

GROSS RENEWABLE ENERGY WORKFORCE REQUIREMENT AND ASSOCIATED ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT IMPACTS

As a consequence of the greater amount of RE deployment, the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios drive increased <u>gross</u> domestic RE-related jobs relative to the No RPS baseline (Figure 6.1). In terms of total cumulative job-years over the entire 2015–2050 period, the Existing RPS scenario yields 4.7 million additional job-years compared to the No RPS scenario, a 19% increase in RE-related employment required. This is equivalent to the renewable energy sector needing approximately 134,000 more workers annually, on average, in comparison to the No RPS scenario. The High RE scenario, meanwhile, is estimated to require 11.5 million additional job-years, again relative to the No RPS baseline, a 47% boost. We do not estimate economy-wide net impacts, and the increased RE jobs noted here will be expected—at a national or international scale—to be partially or fully offset by job contraction in other parts of the economy.



Figure 6.1. Gross domestic RE-related jobs in three modeled scenarios

Figure 6.2 illustrates the breakdown among these job totals by RE technology, by onsite vs. supply chain vs. induced, and by construction versus O&M.⁵⁵ The distribution of jobs among renewable technologies reflects both the contribution of each technology to generation and capacity, as well as the labor-intensity of their construction and operation phases. As shown, jobs related to solar PV—including both distributed and utility scale—dominate the totals in all three scenarios, followed by wind. Supply-chain job totals are somewhat larger than onsite and induced jobs in all three scenarios. In part, this reflects the fact that one-time construction jobs, which directly impact supply-chain totals, are somewhat greater in magnitude than ongoing RE O&M jobs.

⁵⁵ For each scenario, the total job-years are equal across all three breakdown categories shown in Figure 6.2 because all jobs are allocated to each subcategory. For example, "Solar" jobs include onsite, supply chain, and induced jobs that resulted from the construction and operations of new solar generation. Similarly, "Construction" jobs in this figure include onsite construction as well as supply chain (e.g., materials) needed for and induced jobs resulting from the construction activity.

(a) Renewable technology



(b) Onsite vs. supply chain vs. induced









Of the three categories of jobs—onsite, supply chain, and induced—only onsite jobs can be readily linked to specific regions. The distribution of onsite jobs (including those associated with both construction and O&M) across regions under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios relative to the No RPS baseline, largely corresponds to the distribution of incremental RE deployment (see Figure 6.3). In particular, the Existing RPS case yields the greatest number of incremental onsite jobs in the Pacific, Middle Atlantic, and New England Regions. The High RE case, on the other hand, yields the largest incremental onsite job increases in the South Atlantic region.⁵⁶



Figure 6.3. Regional gross onsite jobs relative to No RPS

Finally, Table 6.1 summarizes the results for earnings, output, and gross domestic product across the entire analysis time period for each of the three scenarios. The results largely mirror those presented above for employment effects. We again emphasize that these figures represent gross impacts associated with RE deployment and not net economy-wide effects.

Gross Impact (2015\$ million)	No RPS	Existing RPS	High RE	
Earnings	1,281,000	1,562,000	1,962,000	
Output	3,956,000	4,727,000	5,841,000	
GDP	2,827,000	3,562,000	3,573,000	

Table 6.1. Gross Total (2015–2050) RE-Related Earnings, Output, and Gross Domestic Product in
Three Modeled Scenarios

⁵⁶ RE employment is tied to both capacity expansion and the type of RE deployed. As shown in figure 6.2, some technologies require more workers for either installation or O&M. This is particularly true for solar PV installation, which is relatively more labor-intensive than other RE technologies.

NATURAL GAS PRICE REDUCTION IMPACTS

Achieving the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios reduces cumulative 2015–2050 electricity sector natural gas consumption by a total of 35 quads and 46 quads, respectively, relative to the No RPS baseline (Figure 6.4). These reductions represent 3.3% and 4.3% of total economy-wide natural gas consumption in the United States over the same time period. Despite the much-more aggressive RE deployment in the High RE scenario, natural gas demand reduction is only modestly higher than under the Existing RPS scenario due to the higher-degree of coal displacement under the High RE case.

These estimated economy-wide natural gas demand reductions place downward pressure on natural gas prices, illustrated on a national basis in Figure 6.4. Though the figure presents national average results, the price changes vary somewhat by region; regional reductions in 2050 of \$0.36 to \$0.59 per million Btu (MMBtu) are estimated in the Existing RPS scenario, whereas reductions of \$0.69 to \$0.89/MMBtu are estimated in the High RE scenario.





These price changes, as they affect the electricity sector, are reflected in the results presented earlier on the cost and retail electricity price impacts of the various scenarios. In addition gas price reductions provide consumer benefits in the form of lower natural gas costs outside of the electricity sector. In particular, as shown in Figure 6.5, natural gas bill savings from the Existing RPS scenario total \$78 billion on a discounted, present-value basis, which is equivalent to a levelized impact of RE of 1.9 e/kWh-RE. Under the

(a) Natural gas consumption

High RE scenario, total consumer savings equal \$99 billion, or $0.9 \notin / kWh-RE$. While absolute consumer savings are greater under the High RE scenario compared with the Existing RPS, levelized impacts are lower due to the greater amount of incremental RE in the former.



Figure 6.5. Present value (2015–2050) non-electric natural gas consumer savings relative to No RPS

Consumer benefits vary by region depending on the estimated regional gas price reduction and total regional non-electric natural gas consumption (Figure 6.6). Importantly, while individual regions or states may experience net benefits associated with these natural gas price changes, the potential price reductions and consumer savings are likely to be primarily, or even exclusively, *transfer payments* from gas producers (and those that benefit from gas production, such as owners of mineral rights) to gas consumers on a national basis.



Figure 6.6. Regional (non-electric) natural gas consumer savings relative to No RPS

7. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

RPS policies have been a driver of growth in renewable capacity and generation in the past and, based on already established future-year policy targets, are expected to continue to require substantial new renewable capacity in coming years (Barbose 2016a). This analysis estimates the prospective benefits and costs associated with new renewables needed to meet future-year targets of existing RPS policies as well as those associated with higher renewable penetrations that could be achieved under an expanded RPS adoption scenario. Benefits are estimated based on changes in the generation mix and the resulting physical impacts calculated through 2050 using the ReEDS model, with monetary estimates applied as feasible. Costs include all electric infrastructure and operating costs and are estimated in terms of both the net present value of electric system expenditures as well as changes to average retail electricity prices.

Our analysis finds that the Existing RPS scenario will require 66 GW of renewables (218 TWh of incremental renewable generation) above the No RPS scenario by 2030 and 122 GW (296 TWh of renewable generation) by 2050. These values reflect the amount of incremental RE needed to satisfy RPS requirements beyond 2014 and serve as the basis for which we evaluate the costs, benefits, and impacts. The Existing RPS scenario results in 26% renewables (including hydropower) penetration by 2030 and 40% by 2050, compared to 21% and 34%, respectively, under the No RPS scenario. Wind and solar dominate capacity additions, but significant incremental generation is also derived from biomass and geothermal resources. The new RE generation largely offsets fossil generation, with a greater amount of coal offset before 2030, but more natural gas offset in the longer term. RE used to meet existing RPS requirements from 2015 to 2050 results in cumulative emissions reductions equal to 2.1 million metric tons of SO_2 (5.5%) as a percentage of total electricity sector emissions), 2.5 million metric tons of NO_x (5.7%), and 0.3 million metric tons of $PM_{2.5}$ (4.5%). Based on these reductions, total health and environmental benefits are estimated to be \$97 billion (central estimate), or 2.4¢/kWh-RE. In addition, the generation mix in the Existing RPS scenario results in cumulative GHG savings from 2015 to 2050 equal to 4.7 billion metric tons of CO₂-equivalent, or 6% of total life-cycle emissions from the electricity sector. Under the central estimate, global climate damage reductions equal \$161 billion on a discounted, present value basis, or 3.9e/kWh-RE.

The *High RE scenario* results in substantial additional capacity of 215 GW of renewables above the baseline No RPS scenario by 2030 (or 627 TWh of incremental renewable generation) and 331 GW of incremental renewables (or 765 TWh of generation) by 2050. This translates to an RE penetration of 35% by 2030 and 49% by 2050. Again, wind and solar are the dominant RE technologies deployed. Coal is the dominant form of avoided generation in the High RE scenario, even more so than under the Existing RPS scenario. The High RE scenario leads to cumulative (2015–2050) air emission savings of 11.1 (29%), 12.8 (29%), and 1.8 (29%) million metric tons of SO₂, NO_x, and PM_{2.5}, respectively. The health benefits of these reduced emissions are estimated to be \$558 billion on a present-value basis (central estimate), or 5.0 ¢/kWh-RE. In addition, under the High RE scenario, GHG savings equal 18.1 billion metric tons, equivalent to 23% of total life-cycle emission in the electricity sector from 2015 to 2050. Using central estimates, present-value global climate damage reductions from the High RE scenario equal \$599 billion, equivalent to a levelized benefit of 5.4 ¢/kWh-RE.

In addition to the air and health benefits and GHG savings, the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios also yield benefits or impacts in the form of reduced water consumption and withdrawals, increased renewable energy-related employment, and reductions in natural gas demand that lower consumer gas bills. Relative to the No RPS baseline, total water consumption in the electricity sector from 2015–2050 is 4% and 18% lower under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, respectively. The scenarios also require an increase in gross domestic RE-related jobs, although these could lead to offsets by job contraction in other parts of the economy. Over the entire 2015–2050 period, the Existing RPS scenario requires 4.7 million additional cumulative job-years, a 19% increase in RE-related employment, while the High RE scenario requires 11.5

million additional job-years, a 47% boost. Gross onsite jobs, which include construction and O&M jobs, represent 28% and 29% of all gross jobs, respectively, in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios. Finally, achieving the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios reduces cumulative 2015–2050 electricity sector natural gas demand by 35 quads and 46 quads, respectively, relative to the baseline. Gas price reductions that result from reduced consumption provide consumer benefits in the form of lower natural gas bills, with bill savings from the Existing RPS scenario totaling \$78 billion on a discounted, present-value basis, or 1.9 e/kWh-RE. Under the High RE scenario, total consumer savings equal \$99 billion, or 0.9 e/kWh-RE.

In comparison to the benefits, incremental system cost impacts are 1.5¢/kWh-RE or less in both scenarios. Figure 7.1 shows a comparison of the incremental system cost impacts relative to RPS benefits that can be monetized. Estimated costs include all electric infrastructure and operating costs and are evaluated under a range of sensitivity cases related to natural gas prices and RE costs. For the Existing RPS scenario, incremental system costs are estimated to range from ±\$31 billion (-0.7% to 0.8%). On a levelized basis, these costs are estimated to be about ±0.75¢/kWh-RE. On the low end of the ranges, incremental costs are found to be negative, suggesting that the RE used to meet aggregate existing RPS policies is economically competitive with other generation sources, when high natural gas prices are assumed. On the other hand, higher RE costs or lower natural gas prices can result in positive compliance costs. In either case, our scenarios suggest likely small national-level electric system cost impacts in either direction for the Existing RPS scenario. For the Existing RPS scenario, we find incremental retail electricity prices of up to about 1¢/kWh on the high end and reduced prices on the low end.

For the High RE scenario, we find a larger range of incremental costs, ranging from \$23 billion (0.6% of total system costs) to \$194 billion (4.5% of total system costs), which is equivalent to 0.26 e/kWh-RE to 1.5 e/kWh-RE on a levelized basis. All of the sensitivities conducted for the High RE scenario were found to have greater system costs than the No RPS scenario, with the highest incremental costs found when high RE technology costs are assumed. The range of incremental electricity prices is greater for the High RE scenario, particularly after 2020. On the high end of the range, regional incremental prices are estimated to peak at as much as 4.2 e/kWh and average (for all years) about 2.9 e/kWh. The low end of the range of incremental prices for the High RE scenario is similar to that for the Existing RPS scenario.

Summarizing the comparison, we find that the benefits exceed the costs, even when considering the highest cost and lowest benefit outcomes (Figure 7.1). Under the Existing RPS scenario, the high end costs are 0.75 ¢/kWh-RE, while air pollution and health benefits total at least 1.2 ¢/kWh-RE and GHG benefits total at least 0.9 ¢/kWh-RE. Under the High RE scenario, the high end costs are 1.5 ¢/kWh-RE while air pollution and health benefits total at least 1.2 ¢/kWh-RE while air pollution and health benefits total at least 1.2 ¢/kWh-RE. The figures here are presented on a national basis.



Figure 7.1. Comparison of national systems costs and monetized benefits under the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios

Note: Positive values reflect benefits in the Existing RPS and High RE scenarios, whereas negative values reflect higher costs relative to the No RPS scenario. Water benefits, gross RE workforce and economic impacts, and natural gas impacts are not shown here.

While we did not evaluate state RPS policies individually, national and regional results can help policymakers understand regional trends and inform state-level decisions about policy changes. Under the Existing RPS scenario, the Pacific region in particular shows considerable (relative to other regions) incremental renewable generation in both the near and longer term. Other regions with lesser, but still substantial, incremental renewable generation under the Existing RPS scenario relative to the No RPS scenario, particularly by 2050, include the East North Central, Middle Atlantic, New England, and Mountain regions. Notably, the significant RPS required renewable generation in New England and the Pacific region largely offset gas while smaller amounts of incremental renewables elsewhere help reduce more coal. In general, there is a more uniform regional distribution of incremental renewable generation in the High RE scenario and greater reduction in coal usage as a result of the construction of the scenario.

Our analysis has several limitations. First, we recognize that there may be more cost-effective ways to achieve the benefits and impacts discussed in this paper. Second, while our analysis examines the costs, benefits, and impacts of RE needed to meet RPS requirements going forward, it does not seek to *attribute* those effects solely to RPS policies. Third, our work distinguishes between the potential benefits and impacts of RPS programs. Impacts are best considered as resource transfers, benefiting some stakeholders at the expense of others, although such impacts might still be relevant considerations when evaluating state RPS programs. We do not evaluate the *net* effects of these impacts over the entire country and thus cannot assess whether or not these impacts reflect net costs or benefits at a national scale. Fourth, we consider the impacts of any individual RPS policy. Finally, our analysis considers an important subset of, although not all, potential benefits and impacts; for example, we do not quantify land use and wildlife impacts. Despite these limitations, the analysis can inform decision makers about the prospective costs, merits, and value of state RPS programs as they consider revisions to existing policies and development of new policies.

REFERENCES

- Arent, Douglas, Jacquelyn Pless, Trieu Mai, Ryan Wiser, Maureen Hand, Sam Baldwin, Garvin Heath, Jordan Macknick, Morgan Bazilian, Adam Schlosser, and Paul Denholm. 2014. "Implications of High Renewable Electricity Penetration in the US for Water Use, Greenhouse Gas Emissions, Land-Use, and Materials Supply." *Applied Energy* 123:368–77. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2013.12.022</u>.
- Arent, Douglas, Jeffrey Logan, Jordan Macknick, and William Boyd. 2015. "A Review of Water and Greenhouse Gas Impacts of Unconventional Natural Gas Development in the United States," MRS Energy & Sustainability 2: E4, doi:10.1557/mre.2015.5.
- Averyt, K., J. Fisher, A. Huber-Lee, A. Lewis, J. Macknick, N. Madden, J. Rogers, and S. Tellinghuisen. 2011. Freshwater Use by U.S. Power Plants: Electricity's Thirst for a Precious Resource. Cambridge, MA: UCSUSA.
- Averyt, K., J. Macknick, J. Rogers, N. Madden, J. Fisher, J. Meldrum, and R. Newmark. 2013. "Water Use for Electricity in the United States: An Analysis of Reported and Calculated Water Use Information for 2008." *Environmental Research Letters* 8 (015001).
- Awerbuch, S. 1993. "The Surprising Role of Risk in Utility Integrated Resource Planning." *The Electricity Journal* 6(3): 20–33. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/1040-6190(93)90048-P</u>.
- Bamufleh, Hisham, Jose Ponce-Ortega, and Mahmoud El-Halwagi. 2013. "Multi-Objective Optimization of Process Cogeneration Systems with Economic, Environmental, and Social Tradeoffs." *Clean Technologies and Environmental Policy* 15(1):185–97.
- Barbose, G., L. Bird, J. Heeter, F. Flores, and R. Wiser. 2015. "Costs and Benefits of Renewables Portfolio Standards in the United States." *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 52:523–33.
- Barbose, G., R. Wiser, A. Phadke, and C. Goldman. 2008. "Managing Carbon Regulatory Risk in Utility Resource Planning: Current Practices in the Western United States." *Energy Policy* 36(9):3300–11. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2008.04.023</u>.
- Barbose, Galen. 2015. "Renewables Portfolio Standards in the United States: A Status Update." Presented at the 2015 National RPS Summit, Washington, D.C.
- 2016a. "U.S. Renewables Portfolio Standards: 2016 Annual Status Report." LBNL-1005057. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>https://emp.lbl.gov/sites/all/files/lbnl-1005057.pdf</u>
- Bazilian, M., and F. Roques, eds. 2008. *Analytical Methods for Energy Diversity & Security*. Elsevier Global Energy Policy and Economics Series. Oxford: Elsevier.
- Billman, L., and D. Keyser. 2013. Assessment of the Value, Impact, and Validity of the Jobs and Economic Development Impacts (JEDI) Suite of Models. NREL/TP-6A20-56390. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory.

- Bird, L., C. Chapman, J. Logan, J. Sumner, and W. Short. 2011. "Evaluating Renewable Portfolio Standards and Carbon Cap Scenarios in the U.S. Electric Sector." *Energy Policy* 39(5):2573–85. NREL/JA-6A20-50749. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.02.025</u>
- Bolinger, M. 2013. *Revisiting the Long-Term Hedge Value of Wind Power in an Era of Low Natural Gas Prices.* LBNL-6103E. Berkeley, CA.: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- Bolinger, M., R. Wiser, and W. Golove. 2006. "Accounting for Fuel Price Risk When Comparing Renewable to Gas-Fired Generation: The Role of Forward Natural Gas Prices." *Energy Policy* 34(6):706–20. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2004.07.008.
- Borenstein, Severin. 2012. "The Private and Public Economics of Renewable Electricity Generation." *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 26(1):67–92.
- Bowen, William M., Sunjoo Park, and Joel A. Elvery. 2013. "Empirical Estimates of the Influence of Renewable Energy Portfolio Standards on the Green Economies of States." *Economic Development Quarterly* 27(4): 338-51.
- Brandt, A.R., Heath, G.A., Kort, E.A., O'Sullivan, F., Petron, G., Jordan, S.M., Tans, P., Wilcox, J.,
 Gopstein, A.M., Arent, D., Wofsy, S., Brown, N. J., Bradley, R., Sutcky, G.D., Eardley, D., Harriss,
 R. 2014. "Methane Leaks from North American Natural Gas Systems," Science 343, no. 6172:
 733–35, doi:10.1126/science.1247045.
- Buonocore, Jonathan J., Patrick Luckow, Gregory Norris, John D. Spengler, Bruce Biewald, Jeremy Fisher, and Jonathan I. Levy. 2016a. "Health and Climate Benefits of Different Energy-Efficiency and Renewable Energy Choices." *Nature Climate Change* 6:100–5. http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/nclimate2771.
- Buonocore, Jonathan J., Patrick Luckow, Jeremy Fisher, Willett Kempton, and Jonathan I. Levy. 2016b. "Health and Climate Benefits of Offshore Wind Facilities in the Mid-Atlantic United States." *Environmental Research Letters* 11:074019. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/11/7/074019</u>.
- Bushnell, J., C. Peterman, and C. Woldfram. 2007. *California's Greenhouse Gas Policies: Local Solutions* to a Global Problem? Berkeley, CA: UC Energy Institute.
- Cai, Hao, Michael Wang, Amgad Elgowainy, and Jeongwoo Han. 2012. Updated Greenhouse Gas and Criteria Air Pollutant Emission Factors and Their Probability Distribution Functions for Electric Generating Units. ANL/ESD/12-2. Argonne, IL: Argonne National Laboratory. <u>http://www.osti.gov/scitech/biblio/1045758</u>.
- ———. 2013. Updated Greenhouse Gas and Criteria Air Pollutant Emission Factors of the U.S. Electric Generating Units in 2010. Argonne, IL: Argonne National Laboratory. https://greet.es.anl.gov/files/electricity-13.
- Callaway, D., M. Fowlie, and G. McCormick. 2015. *Location, Location, Location: The Variable Value of Renewable Energy and Demand-Side Efficiency Resources*. Berkeley, CA: Energy Institute at Haas.
- Caperton, R. 2012. *Renewable Energy Standards Deliver Affordable, Clean Power*. Washington, D.C.: Center for American Progress.

- Carley, S. 2011. "Decarbonization of the U.S. Electricity Sector: Are State Energy Policy Portfolios the Solutions?" *Energy Economics* 33: 1004-23.
- ———. 2009. "State Renewable Energy Electricity Policies: An Empirical Evaluation of Effectiveness." Energy Policy 37(8) (August): 3071–81.
- Carley, S., and C. Miller. 2012. "Regulatory Stringency and Policy Drivers: A Reassessment of Renewable Portfolio Standards." *Policy Studies Journal* 40(4): 730-56.
- Chen, C., R. Wiser, and M. Bolinger. 2007. Weighing the Costs and Benefits of State Renewables Portfolio Standards: A Comparative Analysis of State-Level Policy Impact Projections. LBNL-61580. Berkeley, CA: Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory.
- Chiang, Amy C., Michael R. Moore, Jeremiah X. Johnson, and Gregory A. Keoleian. 2016. "Emissions Reduction Benefits of Siting an Offshore Wind farm: A Temporal and Spatial Analysis of Lake Michigan." *Ecological Economics* 130:263.
- Clemmer, S., J. Rogers, S. Sattler, J. Macknick, and T. Mai. 2013. "Modeling Low-Carbon US Electricity Futures to Explore Impacts on National and Regional Water Use." *Environmental Research Letters* 8: 015004.
- Cole, Wesley J., Kenneth B. Medlock III, and Aditya Jani. 2016. "A View to the Future of Natural Gas and Electricity: An Integrated Modeling Approach." *Energy Economics* 60:486–96. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2016.03.005</u>.
- Cole, Wesley, Trieu Mai, Jeffrey Logan, Daniel Steinberg, James McCall, James Richards, Benjamin Sigrin, and Gian Porro. 2016. 2016 Standard Scenarios Report: A U.S. Electricity Sector Outlook. NREL/TP-6A20-66939. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy17osti/66939.pdf</u>.
- Cole, Wesley, Trieu Mai, Kelly Eurek, Daniel C. Steinberg, and Robert Margolis. 2015. "Considering the Role of Solar Generation under Rate-Based Targets in the EPA's Proposed Clean Power Plan."
 Paper presented at Energy Policy Institute's Fifth Annual Energy Policy Research Conference. *The Electricity Journal* 28(8):20–28. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tej.2015.09.002</u>.

Croucher, M. 2012. "Which State is Yoda?" Energy Policy 42:613-5.

- Cullen, J. 2013. "Measuring the Environmental Benefits of Wind-Generated Electricity." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 5(4):107–33. <u>http://dx.doir.org/10.1257/pol.5.4.107</u>.
- DOE (U.S. Department of Energy). 2013. U.S. Energy Sector Vulnerabilities to Climate Change and Extreme Weather. DOE/PI-0013. Washington, D.C.: DOE.

——. 2015. *Wind Vision: A New Era for Wind Power in the United States*. DOE/GO-102015-4557. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Energy.

——. 2016. *Hydropower Vision: A New Chapter for America's 1st Renewable Electricity Source*. DOE/GO-102016-4869. Washington, D.C.: U.S. Department of Energy.

Driscoll, Charles T., Jonathan J. Buonocore, Jonathan I. Levy, Kathleen F. Lambert, Dallas Burtraw, Stephen B. Reid, Habibollah Fakhraei, and Joel Schwartz. 2015. "US Power Plant Carbon Standards and Clean Air and Health Co-Benefits." *Nature Climate Change* 5:535–40. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1038/NCLIMATE2598</u>.

- Eastin, L. 2014. "An Assessment of the Effectiveness of Renewable Portfolio Standards in the United States." *The Electricity Journal* 27(7):126-37.
- Edenhofer, Ottmar, Lion Hirth, Brigitte Knopf, Michael Pahle, Steffen Schlömer, Eva Schmid, and Falko Ueckerdt. 2013. "On the Economics of Renewable Energy Sources." *Energy Economics* 40, Supplement 1 (December): S12–S23.
- EIA (Energy Information Administration). 2012. Analysis of the Clean Energy Standard Act of 2012, Washington, D.C.: EIA.
- . 2014. Annual Energy Outlook 2014 with Projections to 2040. DOE/EIA-0383(2014).
- ———. 2015. "Annual Environmental Information, Schedule 8. Part C. Air Emissions Control Information, 2014 Final Release." <u>https://www.eia.gov/electricity/data/eia923/xls/f923_2014.zip</u>.
- ------. 2016. Annual Energy Outlook 2016. DOE/EIA 0383(2016). Washington, D.C.: EIA.
- EPA (Environmental Protection Agency). 2015a. Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units. Washington, D.C.: Environmental Protection Agency.
 - ——. 2015b. Standards of Performance for Greenhouse Gas Emissions from New, Modified, and Reconstructed Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units. Washington, D.C.: Environmental Protection Agency.
 - ———. 2015c. Database of Operational LFG Energy Projects. Washington D.C.: EPA Landfill Methane Outreach Program. <u>http://www.epa.gov/lmop/projects-candidates/operational.html</u>
 - ——. 2009. Cooling Water Intake Structures— CWA 316(b), Phase II—Large Existing Electric Generating Plants. Washington, DC: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Eurek, Kelly, Wesley Cole, David Bielen, Nate Blair, Stuart Cohen, Bethany Frew, Jonathan Ho, Venkat Krishnan, Trieu Mai, and Daniel Steinberg. 2016. *Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS) Model Documentation: Version 2016*. NREL/TP-6A20-67067. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy17osti/67067.pdf</u>.
- Fann, N., K.R. Baker, and C.M. Fulcher. 2012. "Characterizing the PM2.5-Related Health Benefits of Emission Reductions for 17 Industrial, Area and Mobile Emission Sectors Across the U.S." *Environment International* 49: 141–51. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.envint.2012.08.017</u>.
- Fell, H., and J. Linn. 2013. "Renewable Electricity Policies, Heterogeneity, and Cost Effectiveness." Journal of Environmental Economics and Management 66(3): 688–707.
- Fischer, C. 2009. "Renewable Portfolio Standards: When Do They Lower Energy Prices?" *The Energy Journal* 30(4): 81-99.
- Fischer, C. and R. G. Newell. 2008. "What's the Best Way to Promote Green Power? Don't Forget the Emissions Price." Resources for the Future. Washington, D.C.

- Flores, F., Keyser, D, and Tegen, S. 2014. Potential Economic Impacts from Offshore Wind in the Gulf of Mexico Region. U.S. Department of Energy (DOE), Energy Efficiency & Renewable Energy (EERE).
- Frew, Bethany, Trieu Mai, Venkat Krishnan, and Scott Haase. 2016. Utility-Scale Photovoltaic Deployment Scenarios of the Western United States: Implications for Solar Energy Zones in Nevada. NREL/TP-6A20-67066. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy17osti/67066.pdf</u>.
- Fripp, M. 2011. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions from Operating Reserves Used to Backup Large-Scale Wind Power." *Environmental Science & Technology* 45(21):9405–12.
- GAO (Government Accountability Office). 2014. Regulatory Impact Analysis: Development of Social Cost of Carbon Estimates. GAO-14-663. Washington, D.C.: Government Accountability Office.
- GE Energy Consulting. 2014. "PJM Renewable Integration Study." Schenectady, NY: General Electric Energy Consulting Group. Report for PJM Interconnection. <u>http://www.pjm.com/committees-and-groups/task-forces/irtf/pris.aspx</u>.
- Gillingham, Kenneth, and Jim Sweney. 2010. "Market Failure and the Structure of Externalities." In *Harnessing Renewable Energy*. Washington D.C.: RFF Press.
- Göransson, L., and F. Johnsson. 2009. "Dispatch Modeling of a Regional Power Generation System -Integrating Wind Power." *Renewable Energy* 34(4):1040–49. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2008.08.002</u>.
- Goulder, Lawrence H., Marc A.C. Hafstead, and Roberton C. Williams III. 2016. "General Equilibrium Impacts of a Federal Clean Energy Standard." *American Economic Journal: Economic Policy* 8(2):186–218.
- Graff Zivin, J.S., M.J. Kotchen, and E. Mansur. 2014. "Spatial and temporal heterogeneity of marginal emissions: Implications for electric cars and other electricity-shifting policies." *Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization* 107:248–68.
- Gross, R., P. Heptonstall, D. Anderson, T. Green, M. Leach, and J. Skea. 2006. *The Costs and Impacts of Intermittency: An Assessment of the Evidence on the Costs and Impacts of Intermittent Generation on the British Electricity Network.* UK Energy Research Centre. London: Imperial College London.
- Havranek, Tomas, Zuzana Irsova, Karel Janda, and David Zilberman. 2015. "Selective Reporting and the Social Cost of Carbon." *Energy Economics* 51:394–406. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.eneco.2015.08.009</u>.
- Heeter, J., G. Barbose, L. Bird, S. Weaver, F. Flores, K. Kuskova-Burns, and R. Wiser. 2014. A Survey of State-Level Cost and Benefit Estimates of Renewable Portfolio Standards. NREL/TP-6A20-61042 Golden, CO and Berkeley, CA: National Renewable Energy Laboratory and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/61042.pdf</u>.
- Heeter, Jenny, Philipp Beiter, Francisco Flores-Espino, David Hurlbut, and Chang Liu. 2015. "Quantifying the Level of Cross-State Renewable Energy Transactions." NREL/PR-6A20-63458. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/63458.pdf</u>.

- Heo, Jinhyok, Peter J. Adams, and H. Oliver Gao. P J Adams, H. O. Gao. 2016. "Reduced-Form Modeling of Public Health Impacts of Inorganic PM_{2.5} and Precursor Emissions." *Atmospheric Environment* 137:80–89. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.atmosenv.2016.04.026</u>.
- Holt, E. 2016. *Potential RPS Markets for Renewable Energy Generators*. Updated from the 2014 edition. Prepared for the State-Federal RPS Collaborative. Montpelier, VT: Clean Energy States Alliance. <u>http://www.cesa.org/assets/2016-Files/Potential-RPS-Markets-Report-Holt.pdf</u>.
- IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change). 2011. Special Report on Renewable Energy Sources and Climate Change Mitigation (SRREN). Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- ———. 2014. Climate Change 2014: Mitigation of Climate Change: Working Group III Contribution to the Fifth Assessment Report of the IPCC. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.
- IWG. 2010. Technical Support Document: Social Cost of Carbon for Regulatory Impact Analysis Under Executive Order 12866. Washington D.C.: Interagency Working Group on Social Cost of Carbon.
- ———. 2015. Technical Support Document: Technical Update of the Social Cost of Carbon for Regulatory Impact Analysis Under Executive Order 12866. July 2015 Revision. Washington D.C.: Interagency Working Group on Social Cost of Carbon.
- Jenkin, T., V. Diakov, E. Drury, B. Bush, P. Denholm, J. Milford, D. Arent, R. Margolis, and R. Byearne. 2013. The Use of Solar and Wind as a Physical Hedge against Price Variability Within a Generation Portfolio. NREL/TP-6A20-59065. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Jensen, Kimberly L., Dayton M. Lambert, R. Jamey Menard, Burton C. English, and Wan Xu. 2010. "Projected Economic Impacts of Green Jobs Development in the Appalachian Region." Department of Agricultural & Resource Economics Institute of Agriculture. Knoxville, TN: The University of Tennessee. <u>http://beag.ag.utk.edu/pub/GreenJobsImpactARC2.pdf</u>.
- Johnson, E.P. 2014. "The Cost of Carbon Dioxide Abatement from State Renewable Portfolio Standards." *Resource and Energy Economics* 36(2):332–50.
- Johnson, L., S. Yeh and C. Hope. 2013. "The Social Cost of Carbon: Implications for Modernizing Our Electricity System." *Journal of Environmental Studies and Sciences* 3(4):369–75.
- Kaffine, D., B. McBee and J. Lieskovsky. 2013. "Emissions savings from wind power generation in Texas." *The Energy Journal* 34(1):155-75. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5547/01956574.34.1.7</u>.
- Kalkuhl, M., O. Edenhofer, and K. Lessman. 2013. "Renewable Energy Subsidies: Second-Best Policy or Fatal Aberration for Mitigation?" *Resource and Energy Economics* 35(3):217–34.
- Keyser, D., S. Tegen, F. Flores, D. Zammit, M. Kraemer, and J. Miles. 2014. Potential Economic Impacts from Offshore Wind in the Mid-Atlantic Region. DOE/GO-102014-4359. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Kopp, R.E., and B.K. Mignone. 2012. "The U.S. Government's Social Cost of Carbon Estimates after Their First Two Years: Pathways for Improvement." *Economics: The Open-Access, Open-Assessment E-Journal*. <u>http://dx.doi./org/10.5018/economics-ejournal.ja.2012-15</u>.

- Lantz, Eric, and Suzanne Tegen. 2008. *Variables Affecting Economic Development of Wind Energy*. Paper presented at WindPower 2008, Houston, Texas, June 1–4. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy08osti/43506.pdf.
- Lantz, Eric, Daniel Steinberg, Michael Mendelsohn, Owen Zinaman, Ted James, Gian Porro, Maureen Hand, Trieu Mai, Jeffrey Logan, Jenny Heeter, and Lori Bird. 2014. *Implications of a PTC Extension on U.S. Wind Deployment*. NREL/TP-6A20-61663.Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy14osti/61663.pdf</u>.
- Lew, D., G. Brinkman, E. Ibanez, A. Florita, M. Heaney, B.-M. Hodge, M. Hummon, G. Stark, J. King, and S.A. Lefton. 2013. *The Western Wind and Solar Integration Study Phase 2*. NREL/TP-5500-55588. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Logan, Jeffrey, Patrick Sullivan, Walter Short, Lori Bird, Ted L. James, and Monisha R. Shah. 2009. *Evaluating a Proposed 20% National Renewable Portfolio Standard*. NREL/TP-6A2-45161. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy09osti/45161.pdf</u>.
- Loomis, D., and J. Carter. 2011. "Wind Development Provides the Most Jobs of the Various Generation Sources in Illinois." Center for Renewable Energy Working Paper 11:02. Normal, IL: Illinois State University.
- Luckow, P., E. Stanton, S. Fields, W. Ong, B. Biewald, S. Jackson, and J. Fisher. 2016. *Spring 2016 National Carbon Dioxide Price Forecast*. Cambridge, MA: Synapse Energy Economics, Inc.
- Macknick, Jordan, Stuart Cohen, Robin Newmark, Andrew Martinez, Patrick Sullivan, and Vince Tidwell. 2015. Water Constraints in an Electric Sector Capacity Expansion Model. NREL/TP-6A20-64270. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy15osti/64270.pdf</u>.
- Macknick, J., S. Sattler, K. Averyt, S. Clemmer, and J. Rogers. 2012. "The Water Implications of Generating Electricity: Water Use Across the United States Based on Different Electricity Pathways Through 2050." *Environmental Research Letters* 7: 045803. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/7/4/045803</u>.
- Mai, Trieu, Wesley Cole, Eric Lantz, Cara Marcy, and Benjamin Sigrin. 2016. *Impacts of Federal Tax Credit Extensions on Renewable Deployment and Power Sector Emissions*. NREL/TP-6A20-65571. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65571.pdf</u>.
- McCubbin, D. and B.K. Sovacool. 2013. "Quantifying the Health and Environmental Benefits of Wind Power to Natural Gas." *Energy Policy* 53 (February): 429–41. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2012.11.004</u>.
- McKibbin, W.J., A.C. Morris, and P.J. Wilcoxen. 2014. "Pricing Carbon in the U.S.: A Model-Based Analysis of Power-Sector-Only Approaches." *Resource and Energy Economics* 36(1):130–50.
- Meldrum, J., S. Nettles-Anderson, G. Heath, and J. Macknick. 2013. "Life Cycle Water Use for Electricity Generation: A Review and Harmonization of Literature Estimates." *Environmental Research Letters* 8: 015031.

- Menz, Fredric C., and Stephan Vachon. 2006. "The Effectiveness of Different Policy Regimes for Promoting Wind Power: Experiences from the States." *Energy Policy* 34(14) (September): 1786– 96.
- Mignone, Bryan K., Thomas Alfstad, Aaron Bergman, Kenneth Dubin, Richard Duke, Paul Friley, Andrew Martinez, Matthew Mowers, Karen Palmer, Anthony Paul, Sharon Showalter, Daniel Steinberg, Matt Woerman, and Frances Wood. 2012. "Cost-Effectiveness and Economic Incidence of a Clean Energy Standard." *Economics of Energy and Environmental Policy* 1(3):59–86. http://dx.doi.org/10.5547/2160-5890.1.3.5.
- Morey, M.J., and L.D. Kirsch. 2013. "Retail Rate Impacts of State and Federal Electric Utility Policies." *The Electricity Journal* 26(3): 35–49.
- Morris, Adele C., Pietro S. Nivola, and Charles L. Schultze. 2012. "Clean Energy: Revisiting the Challenges of Industrial Policy." *Energy Economics* 34, Supplement 1(0): S34–S42.
- Muller N. Z., R. Mendelsohn, and W. Nordhaus. 2011. "Environmental Accounting for Pollution in the United States Economy." *American Economic Review* 101(5):1649–75. DOI: 10.1257/aer.101.5.1649.
- Navigant. 2013. Offshore Wind Market and Economic Analysis: Annual Market Assessment. DE-EE0005360. Prepared for the U.S. Department of Energy. Burlington, MA: Navigant.
- Nordhaus, W. 2014. Estimates of the Social Cost of Carbon: Concepts and Results from the DICE-2013R Model and Alternative Approaches. Journal of the Association of Environmental and Resource Economists, 1(1/2): 273-312.
- Novan, K. 2014. *Valuing the Wind: Renewable Energy Policies and Air Pollution Avoided*. Working paper. Davis: University of California, Davis.
- NRC (National Research Council). 2010. *Hidden Costs of Energy: Unpriced Consequences of Energy Production and Use.* Washington, D.C.: National Academies Press. <u>https://www.nap.edu/catalog/12794/hidden-costs-of-energy-unpriced-consequences-of-energy-production-and.</u>
- Oates, D. L., and P. Jaramillo. 2013. "Production Cost and Air Emissions Impacts of Coal Cycling in Power Systems with Large-Scale Wind Penetration." *Environmental Research Letters* 8(2): 024022. http://dx.doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/8/2/024022.
- Paul, Anthony, Karen Palmer, and Matt Woerman. 2014. "Analysis of the Bingaman Clean Energy Standard Proposal." *Resource and Energy Economics* 36(1):113–29. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.reseneeco.2013.11.008.
- Pehnt, M., M. Oeser, and D.J. Swider. 2008. "Consequential Environmental System Analysis of Expected Offshore Wind Electricity Production in Germany." *Energy* 33(5):747–59.
- Perez-Arriaga, I. J., and C. Batlle. 2012. "Impacts of Intermittent Renewables on Electricity Generation System Operation." *Economics of Energy & Environmental Policy* 1(2). <u>http://dx.do.org/10.5547/2160-5890.1.2.1</u>.

- Rausch, S., and V. Karplus. 2014. "Markets Versus Regulation: The Efficiency and Distributional Impacts of U.S. Climate Policy Proposals." *The Energy Journal* 35(SI1):199–227.
- Rivers, Nicholas. 2013. "Renewable Energy and Unemployment: A General Equilibrium Analysis." *Resource and Energy Economics* 35(4): 467–85.
- Rogers, J., K. Averyt, S. Clemmer, M. Davis, F. Flores-Lopez, D. Kenney, J. Macknick, N. Madden, J. Meldrum, S. Sattler, E. Spanger-Siegfried, and D. Yates. 2013. *Water-Smart Power: Strengthening* the U.S. Electricity System in a Warming World. Cambridge, MA: UCSUSA.
- Rouhani, Omid M., Debbie Niemeier, H. Oliver Gao, and Germà Bel. 2016. "Cost-Benefit Analysis of Various California Renewable Portfolio Standard Targets: Is a 33% RPS optimal?" *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews* 62:1122–32. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2016.05.049</u>.
- Sarzynski, J., and G. Shrimali. 2012. "The Impact of State Financial Incentives on Market Deployment of Solar Technology (in the US)." *Energy Policy* 46: 550-7.
- Seaber, P.R., F.P. Kapinos, and G.L. Knapp. 1987. "Hydrologic Unit Maps: U.S. Geological Survey (USGS)." Water-Supply Paper 2294.
- Shindell, D. 2015. "The Social Cost of Atmospheric Release." *Climate Change* 130(2):313–26. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s10584-015-1343-0</u>.
- Short, Walter, Patrick Sullivan, Trieu Mai, Matthew Mowers, Caroline Uriarte, Nate Blair, Donna Heimiller, and Andrew Martinez. 2011. *Regional Energy Deployment System (ReEDS)*. NREL/TP-6A20-46534. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy12osti/46534.pdf</u>.
- Shrimali, G., G. Chan, S. Jenner, F. Groba, and J. Indvik. 2015. "Evaluating Renewable Portfolio Standards for In-State Renewable Deployment: Accounting for Policy Heterogeneity." *Economics of Energy* & Environmental Policy 4(2).
- Shrimali, G., and S. Jenner. 2013. "The Impact of State Policies on Deployment and Cost of Solar PV in the US: A Sector Specific Empirical Analysis." *Renewable Energy* 60: 679-90.
- Shrimali, G., and J. Kneifel. 2011. "Are Government Policies Effective in Promoting Deployment of Renewable Electricity Resources (in the US)?" *Energy Policy* 39(9): 4726-41.
- Sigrin, Benjamin, Michael Gleason, Robert Preus, Ian Baring-Gould, and Robert Margolis. 2016. The Distributed Generation Market Demand Model (dGen): Documentation. NREL/TP-6A20-65231. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65231.pdf</u>.
- Siler-Evans, Kyle, Inez Lima Azevedo, M. Granger Morgan, and Jay Apt. 2013. "Regional Variations in the Health, Environmental, and Climate Benefits of Wind and Solar Generation." *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences* 110(29):11768–73. <u>http://www.pnas.org/content/110/29/11768</u>.
- Slattery, Michael C., Eric Lantz, and Becky L. Johnson. 2011. "State and Local Economic Impacts from Wind Energy Projects: Texas Case Study." *Energy Policy* 39(12):7930–40.

- Staid, A., and S.D. Guikema. 2013. "Statistical Analysis of Installed Wind Capacity in the United States." *Energy Policy* 60(September): 378–85.
- Steinberg, D., G. Porro, and M. Goldberg. 2012. Preliminary Analysis of the Jobs and Economic Impacts of Renewable Energy Projects Supported by the §1603 Treasury Grant Program. NREL/TP-6A20-52739. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory.
- Stirling, A. 2010. "Multicriteria Diversity Analysis: A Novel Heuristic Framework for Appraising Energy Portfolios." *Energy Policy* 38(4):1622–34. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2009.02.023</u>.
- Tidwell, V.C., L.A. Malczynski, P.H. Kobos, G.T. Klise, and E. Shuster. 2013. "Potential Impacts of Electric Power Production Utilizing Natural Gas, Renewables and Carbon Capture and Sequestration on U.S. Freshwater Resources." *Environmental Science & Technology* 47:8940–7. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es3052284</u>.
- Tol, R.S.J. 2008. "The Social Cost of Carbon: Trends, Outliers and Catastrophes." *Econ. Open-Access, Open-Assess. E-J.* 2 (25), 1–22.
- ------. 2011. "The Social Cost of Carbon." Ann. Rev. Resour. Econ. 3(1), 419-443.
- . 2013. "Targets for Global Climate Policy: an Overview." J. Econ. Dyn. Control. 37(5), 911–928.
- Tra, C.I. 2016. "Have Renewable Portfolio Standards Raised Electricity Rates? Evidence from U.S. Electric Utilities." *Contemporary Economic Policy* 34(1):184–89.
- Tuladhar, S., S. Mankowski, and P. Bernstein. 2014. "Interaction Effects of Market-Based and Commandand-Control Policies." *The Energy Journal* 35(SI1): 61-88.
- U.S. Census Bureau. 2012. "2012 National Population Projections Summary Tables: Table 1. Projections of the Population and Components of Change for the United States: 2015 to 2060." Washington, D.C.: U.S. Census Bureau Population Division.
 https://www.census.gov/population/projections/data/national/2012/summarytables.html.
- UCS (Union of Concerned Scientists). 2012. "UCS EW3 Energy-Water Database." V.1.3. Cambridge, MA: Union of Concerned Scientists.
- Valentino, L., V. Valenzuela, A. Botterud, Z. Zhou, and G. Conzelmann. 2012. "System-Wide Emissions Implications of Increased Wind Power Penetration." *Environmental Science & Technology* 46(7):4200–06. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1021/es2038432</u>.
- van den Bergh, J.C.J.M., Botzen, W.J.W., 2014. "A Lower Bound to the Social Cost of CO₂ Emissions." *Nature Climate Change* 4:253–258.

Ventyx. 2013. Ventyx Energy Velocity Suite.

- Wang, Hangbo. 2015. "Do Mandatory U.S. State Renewable Portfolio Standards Increase Electricity Prices?" *Growth and Change* 47(2):157–174. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/grow.12118</u>.
- Werner, D. 2014. "The Local Environmental Impacts of Renewable Portfolio Standards." Working Paper. College Park, MD: University of Maryland, College Park.

- Wiser, Ryan, and Mark Bolinger. 2006. "Balancing Cost and Risk: The Treatment of Renewable Energy in Western Utility Resource Plans." *The Electricity Journal* 19(1): 48–59. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.tej.2005.10.012</u>.
 - —. 2007. "Can Deployment of Renewable Energy Put Downward Pressure on Natural Gas Prices?" Energy Policy 35(1):295–306.
- Wiser, Ryan, Galen Barbose, Jenny Heeter, Trieu Mai, Lori Bird, Mark Bolinger, Alberta Carpenter, Garvin Heath, David Keyser, Jordan Macknick, Andrew Mills, and Dev Millstein. 2016a. A Retrospective Analysis of the Benefits and Impacts of U.S. Renewable Portfolio Standards. NREL/TP-6A20-65005. Golden, CO and Berkeley, CA: National Renewable Energy Laboratory and Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy16osti/65005.pdf</u>.
- Wiser, Ryan, Trieu Mai, Dev Millstein, Jordan Macknick, Alberta Carpenter, Stuart Cohen, Wesley Cole, Bethany Frew, and Garvin A. Heath. 2016b. On the Path to SunShot: The Environmental and Public Health Benefits of Achieving High Penetrations of Solar Energy in the United States. NREL/TP-6A20-65628. Golden, CO: National Renewable Energy Laboratory. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy160sti/65628.pdf</u>.
- Yi, Hongtao. 2015. "Clean-Energy Policies and Electricity Sector Carbon Emissions in the U.S. States." *Utilities Policy* 34:19–29.
- ———. 2013. "Clean Energy Policies and Green Jobs: An Evaluation of Green Jobs in U.S. Metropolitan Areas." *Energy Policy* 56:644–52.
- Yin, H., and N. Powers. 2010. "Do State Renewable Portfolio Standards Promote In-State Renewable Generation?" *Energy Policy* 38: 1140-9.
- You, Fenqi, Ling Tao, Diane J. Graziano, and Seth W. Snyder. 2012. "Optimal Design Of Sustainable Cellulosic Biofuel Supply Chains: Multiobjective Optimization Coupled With Life Cycle Assessment and Input-Output Analysis." *AIChE Journal* 58(4):1157–80. <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.1002/aic.12637</u>.
Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory 1 Cyclotron Road Berkeley, CA 94720 510-486-4000 • www.lbl.gov

National Renewable Energy Laboratory 15013 Denver West Parkway Golden, CO 80401 303-275-3000 • www.nrel.gov

TP-6A20-67455 • December 2016 Printed on paper that contains recycled content.